Examining parental utilization of and barriers to psychological interventions in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community

by

Haley Marie Kulas

BA General Biology, Washington and Jefferson College, 2018

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

University of Pittsburgh

2021

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This thesis was presented

by

Haley Marie Kulas

It was defended on

June 21, 2021

and approved by

Andrea Durst, MS, DrPH, LCGC, Assistant Professor of Human Genetics, Co-Director of Genetic Counseling Program, Co-Director of MPH Program, Department of Human Genetics, School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Hoda Abdel-Hamid, MD, FAAN, Associate Professor of Pediatrics and Neurology, Director of Pediatric Neuromuscular Program, Division of Child Neurology, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, University of Pittsburgh

Taylor Naus, LCSW, Behavioral Health Therapist, Neurology Division, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, University of Pittsburgh

Thesis Advisor: Deanna Steele, MS, LCGC, Genetic Counselor/Coordinator, Center for Rare Disease Therapy, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, University of Pittsburgh

Copyright © by Haley Marie Kulas

2021

Examining parental utilization of and barriers to psychological interventions in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community

Haley Marie Kulas, MS

University of Pittsburgh, 2021

Abstract

Background: Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked neuromuscular condition. Parents of individuals with DMD report experiencing anxiety and depression symptoms. Psychological interventions including psychotherapy, psychiatry, and support groups have shown to be effective, yet tend to be underutilized due to attitudinal and structural barriers.

Methods: 230 parents of individuals with DMD were anonymously surveyed to examine utilization and barriers to psychological interventions during the time of their child's diagnosis and as the condition has progressed over the years. The Public Health Questionairre-9 (PHQ-9) and Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) was utilized for mental health screening. Distribution occurred through advocacy groups who reached out to their members via social media and email. Results were analyzed quantitatively using descriptive statistics.

Results: Most participants did not utilize psychotherapy, psychiatry, and in-person or online support groups during the diagnosis (67.4%, 85.7%, 77.8%, 78.3%) or disease progression (56.7%, 80%, 72.6%, 67%) stage. The top three barriers identified for not utilizing psychotherapy and psychiatry were "I felt that I did not need to", financial reasons, and time constraints. The top three barriers for in-person and online support groups were lack of support group availability, "I felt that I did not need to", and time constraints. Common qualitative barrier themes across all interventions included: being emotionally overwhelmed, other support resources, COVID-19 pandemic, and lack of resource information/availability. PHQ-9 screening revealed 94.78% and

91.63% of participants experienced varying degrees of depression symptoms with 42.6% and 23.26% who experienced moderate to severe depression during the diagnosis and disease progression stage, respectively. GAD-7 showed that 94.78% and 93.95% experienced varying degrees of anxiety and 58.26% and 34.41% had moderate to severe anxiety during the diagnosis and disease progression stage, respectively.

Conclusions: Psychological interventions are underutilized by parents of individuals with DMD, yet a majority experience anxiety and depression symptoms. Low perceived need and lack of support groups were identified as major barriers. Healthcare workers, such as genetic counselors, involved in this community should use family-centered care, implement mental health screenings, and increase conversations regarding psychological interventions when appropriate. Furthermore, these results have public health significance in improving access to psychological interventions.

Table of Contents

Prefacexi
1.0 Introduction1
2.0 Literature Review
2.1 Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy 4
2.1.1 Overview
2.1.2 Molecular Genetics5
2.1.3 Inheritance6
2.1.4 Diagnosis7
2.1.5 Natural History8
2.1.6 Treatment and Management11
2.2 Parental Experience14
2.2.1 Stages of Grief14
2.2.2 Children with disabilities or chronic illness16
2.2.3 Children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy18
2.3 Psycholo gical Interventions
2.3.1 Psychotherapy20
2.3.2 Psychiatry21
2.3.3 Support Groups22
2.4 Barriers to Psychological Interventions
2.4.1 Common Barriers25
2.5 Summary

3.0 Manuscript	. 28
3.1 Background	. 28
3.2 Methods	. 33
3.2.1 Study Population	33
3.2.2 Survey Development	33
3.2.3 Survey Content	34
3.2.4 Study Recruitment	35
3.2.5 Descriptive Statistics and Thematic Analysis	36
3.3 Results	. 36
3.3.1 Demographics	37
3.3.2 Family and Personal History	39
3.3.3 Mental Health Screening	41
3.3.4 Psychological Intervention Utilization	43
3.3.5 Barriers to Psychological Interventions	44
3.4 Discussion	. 51
3.4.1 Mental Health Screening	51
3.4.2 Utilization of Psychological Interventions	52
3.4.3 Barriers to Psychological Interventions	55
3.4.4 Generalizability of Results, Limitations, and Future Research	59
3.5 Conclusion	. 62
4.0 Research Significance to Genetic Counseling and Public Health	. 64
Appendix A Institutional Review Board Approval	. 69
Appendix B Informed Consent for Survey	. 70

Appendix C Survey	
Appendix D Advertisement for Survey Participation	
Bibliography	100

List of Tables

Table 1 Demographic Statistics	38
Table 2 Family and Personal History Statistics	40
Table 3 Psychological Intervention Utilization	43
Table 4 Barriers to Psychological Interventions	45
Table 5 Thematic Analysis of "Other personal reason" responses	48

List of Figures

- Figure 1: Participant Demographics in the United States of America. A number by the state name indicates the number of survey participants who reported living in the state...... 39

Preface

I would like to acknowledge those who came on this research journey with me: my entire committee, my family, and the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy organizations. I'd like to give thanks to my committee for being incredibly patient and supportive. It was a long journey to the finish line, and I appreciate each person more than words can describe. Secondly, I'd like to thank my family, especially my mom, for believing in me and supporting me through my entire life. This research is dedicated to and inspired by her. As a parent of an individual with a neuromuscular condition she understands the importance of psychological interventions. Thirdly, thanks to all of the organizations that helped distribute this survey to their members. Without their help the response rate would not be as high as it is. Lastly, I would also like to also dedicate this research to the entire Muscular Dystrophy community. As an individual with a neuromuscular disorder, words cannot describe how important this community is to me. I hope this research lays the groundwork for future research. As a genetic counselor I hope to continue making a positive impact in the community both professionally and personally.

1.0 Introduction

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy is a neuromuscular disorder that causes rapid progressive muscle deterioration throughout the body. Pathogenic variants in the *DMD* gene cause symptoms in early childhood and are inherited in an X-linked recessive manner. Diagnosis usually occurs around age 4 or 5 years. Signs and symptoms include high creatine phosphokinase, late onset walking, waddling while walking, enlarged calf muscles, and difficulty climbing, running, and getting up off the ground. Over time the muscles of the upper arms, shoulders, hips, and thighs will progressively become weaker. Those affected typically need to use a wheelchair by age 13, have signs of cardiomyopathy by age 18, and do not live past the third decade of life due to respiratory and cardiac complications.¹

Numerous studies have been conducted describing the experiences of parents/guardians of individuals diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. The most stressful periods for parents and families of individuals with Duchene Muscular Dystrophy are the time of diagnosis, loss of ambulation, adolescence, and end stages of the condition.² One study found that 57% of parents of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy self-reported that they had poor psychological adjustment which resulted in 50% and 31% having depressive and anxiety symptoms, respectively.³ Another study showed that parents of children with this condition are significantly more likely to go through a depressive episode and have more distress than a national control group, therefore, counseling on appropriate therapies is strongly encouraged.⁴ Appropriate therapies can include group therapy, psychiatry, or psychotherapy.

Even though referrals to psychiatric interventions might occur, there can be barriers that prevent a parent/guardian from acting on a referral. A study conducted on the primary care patient population found that some perceived barriers to psychotherapy include cost, time constraints, transportation difficulties, childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones, discomfort talking about personal issues, concerns about being seen while upset, discussing personal issues with a stranger, and stigma. The same study also reported that 59.5% of participants stated that at least one of the barriers mentioned would make it difficult to attend and participate in psychotherapy.⁵ These barriers could translate over to other psychological interventions such as group therapy and psychiatry.

While the current literature describes the stressors that parents face, there is a lack of literature describing whether parents utilize psychological interventions in order to cope with their child's diagnosis and the stressors of caring for a child with DMD. This study aims to examine whether or not parents of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy have utilized psychological interventions over the course of their child's diagnosis/disease progress. Barriers to the psychological interventions will also be examined. The survey was developed in Qualtrics and distributed through partnering advocacy groups that include the Muscular Dystrophy Association, Parent Project DMD, social media, and the list-serve within the neuromuscular clinic at Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. The results of this study will help genetic counselors and health care providers within the neuromuscular community address the psychological needs of parents of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy.

This study aims to:

• Aim 1: Develop an online quantitative survey using Qualtrics with a target audience of parents or guardians of individuals diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

2

- Aim 2: Utilize the survey, which will be distributed through Muscular Dystrophy advocacy organizations' publications, list serves, and social media, to assess the following:
 - Whether or not parents/guardians of individuals diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy have utilized psychological interventions, such as psychotherapy, psychiatry, or group therapy
 - Reasons or barriers explaining why parents/guardians of individuals with
 Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy chose not to utilize psychological interventions
- Aim 3: Assess the survey results to identify any barriers to utilizing psychosocial interventions in order for genetic counselors to better meet the psychological needs of parents/guardians of individuals with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy or other neuromuscular conditions.

2.0 Literature Review

2.1 Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

2.1.1 Overview

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is a neuromuscular condition that typically affects about on average 7 (range 1-16) per 100,000 males worldwide.⁶⁻²⁷ Although it is rare, it is one of the more common muscular dystrophies. It is caused by variants in the *DMD* gene, located on the X chromosome.²⁸ There are a variety of pathogenic variants that consist of deletions, duplications, and point mutations. These can cause absent or decreased production of dystrophin; an essential protein needed to form and maintain healthy muscle. Variants in the same gene can cause another type of Muscular Dystrophy called Becker Muscular Dystrophy (BMD). The difference between DMD and BMD is that out-of-frame deletions/duplications cause DMD while in-frame deletions/duplications cause the less severe BMD.²⁹ DMD is inherited in an X-linked recessive manner where female carriers of a pathogenic DMD gene variant have a 25% chance of having a child with DMD²⁸. Female carriers have been reported to have some cardiovascular symptoms; therefore, it is recommended that they seek a cardiology evaluation.³⁰

Individuals with DMD present with symptoms before age 5 years with mean age of diagnosis being around 3 years.³¹⁻³³ Initial symptoms include delayed motor milestones, difficulty climbing stairs, waddling, persistent toe walking, elevated creatine phosphokinase, calf hypertrophy, and the classic Gower maneuver.³³⁻³⁷ As the disease progresses there is symmetric muscle weakness with the proximal muscles being more affected than the distal muscles. By age

13 years, most individuals utilize a wheelchair full time for mobility needs due to loss of ambulation.³⁸ The condition not only affects the skeletal muscle, but also cardiac and respiratory muscle. During the later stages of DMD, individuals may require ventilation support due to breathing difficulty. Involvement of cardiac muscle leads to dilated cardiomyopathy resulting in heart failure. Cardiopulmonary complications are usually the cause of death within the second to third decade of life.³⁹ However, life expectancy has increased over the years as new treatments emerge.³⁹⁻⁴³ There is no known cure for DMD. Treatments and management guidelines are strictly supportive but can delay progression. Treatments such as exon-skipping and stop-codon-read-through therapy are available depending on the individual's genetic variant and stage of disease. Gene therapy is currently being studied at the research level.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁵

2.1.2 Molecular Genetics

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy is caused by variants in the *DMD* gene located on chromosome Xp21.2-p21.1. It is the largest known gene encompassing 79 exons.⁴⁶ It is expressed mainly in skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle, and at low levels in the brain.⁴⁹⁻⁵⁰ It is not found in any non-muscle tissue. The *DMD* gene is responsible for making the dystrophin protein. Dystrophin is a rod-like structure located in the inner surface of muscle fibers, called the sarcolemma.⁴⁸ The protein has four main functional domains: actin-binding amino-terminal domain, central rod domain, cysteine-rich domain, and carboxyl-terminus domain.⁴⁷ Dystrophin acts as an anchor between the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex embedded along the sarcolemma and intracellular actin network. This linkage is critical for muscle stability.

There is a wide spectrum of variants that cause DMD. In the past, variants in the *DMD* gene were hard to detect due to how large the gene is. Approximately 66% of variants are large

(one or more exons) deletions and about 5% are large duplications.^{29,51-53} More advanced genetic studies have identified point mutations (10-30%) and splice site variants (2%) to the spectrum of variants.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁸ Recently, a nationwide study in Italy involving 11 diagnostic centers genotyped 1,902 patients over a 10-year period and found that in DMD patients the spectrum of variants was deletions (57%), duplications (11%), and point mutations (32%), 44% of which were nonsense mutations.⁵⁹

2.1.3 Inheritance

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy is inherited in an X-linked recessive manner. The *DMD* gene is located on the X chromosome. Males are primarily affected. About 30-33% of the time the condition occurs from a *de novo* variant meaning that the variant was new in the child and not inherited from the mother.⁶⁰⁻⁶² According to Haldane's law, a female who has one son with DMD has a 67% chance of being a carrier. This risk can be lowered depending on any unaffected sons present. A female with two sons with DMD is considered an obligate carrier. Female carriers are typically asymptomatic. When a carrier female becomes pregnant there is a 25% chance of having a son with DMD, a 25% chance of having a son without DMD, a 25% chance of having an unaffected carrier daughter, and a 25% chance of having an unaffected daughter who is not a carrier. Although carrier females are typically unaffected, some may experience symptoms of dilated cardiomyopathy, muscle weakness, and muscle pain/cramping with variable expressivity.⁶³ These symptomatic females occur in 8% to 22% of DMD carriers.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁵ In more rare cases female carriers can present with DMD symptoms or a milder phenotype and are classified as symptomatic or manifesting carriers.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸ Studies have shown that this situation in females who are heterozygous

for dystrophin mutations can occur due to causes such as skewed X-inactivation and a chromosomal translocation involving the X chromosome.^{67,69-72}

2.1.4 Diagnosis

When it is suspected based on history and physical exam, there are numerous ways to establish a diagnosis of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. Diagnosis typically occurs around 5 years of age.⁷³ The investigative techniques are muscle biopsy, serum creatine kinase, and genetic testing. In the past when genetic testing was not as prevalent or advanced as it is today, a muscle biopsy was a prominent technique to aide in the diagnosis.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁵ The level of dystrophin using Western blot analysis will either be very low (less than 3% of what is considered normal) or completely absent.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁷ When there is a lack of dystrophin there is muscle fiber degeneration and necrosis which gives rise to smaller cells as replacement.⁷⁹⁻⁸² Additionally, inflammatory cells can be present in response to necrosis.⁸³ Overtime the muscle degeneration surpasses the regeneration capacity which results in increased level of connective tissue and fat giving the appearance of pseudohypertrophy followed by atrophy.⁷⁸ More recently this practice is not utilized unless genetic testing cannot confirm a diagnosis.

The second investigative approach when DMD is suspected is to obtain a serum creatine kinase (CK) level. Creatine kinase is an enzyme that is commonly found in the heart, skeletal muscle, and brain. In unaffected individuals the CK level ranges from 39-308 U/L for males and 26-192 U/L for females.⁸⁴ Individuals with DMD can have an elevated CK level that is 10-200 times the reference value before the age of 5 years.⁸⁵ This approach has gradually replaced the need for a muscle biopsy due to the approach being less invasive.

Molecular genetic testing is the gold standard for a diagnosis of DMD. In the past multiplex polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was the main method used to identify variants because the majority of individuals with DMD had deletions of one or more exons.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁷ Multiplex PCR was able to detect 98% of deletions, but it is unable to detect duplications or point mutations.⁸⁷ Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) or comparative genomic hybridization array can identify both deletions and duplications, even small ones, with the possibility of predicting if the deletion or duplication will disrupt the reading frame.⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰ MLPA has the ability to improve the detection rate of multiplex PCR by 15%.⁸⁸ Oligonucleotide-based array comparative genomic hybridization (array-CGH) is able to detect complex rearrangements and large scale intronic alterations.⁹¹ If deletion or duplication analysis comes back negative, then next generation sequencing should be performed to identify any point variants⁹². A study conducted in 2011 showed that next-generation sequencing was able to identify point variants, mainly nonsense or frameshift variants that caused truncation of the dystrophin protein, in 15 out of 16 (93%) participants who were not found to have a deletion or duplication.⁹³ Overall, molecular diagnostic methods for DMD have 90.7% sensitivity, 66.4% specificity, 93.2% positive predictive value, and 58.5% negative predictive value.⁹⁴

2.1.5 Natural History

The natural history of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) can be broken up into five major stages: diagnosis, early ambulatory, late ambulatory, early non-ambulatory, and late non-ambulatory. It is important to keep in mind that the onset and duration of each stage can vary between individuals and can be influenced by medical and nonmedical interventions. The diagnosis stage typically occurs around 2 to 5 years of age.³¹⁻³³ Some of the most common

symptoms during the diagnosis stage include gross-motor delay (42%), delay in walking (mean age 18.3 months) (20%), toe-walking and flat footedness (30%), and less commonly learning difficulties (5%) and speech delay (3%).³³⁻³⁴ Additional symptoms include difficulty running, climbing stairs, jumping, and standing up.³⁵ The disease course begins in the proximal lower limb muscles then affects the upper distal limb muscles as the disease progresses over the years.

When the individual is between 3 to 6 years old, it is known as the early ambulatory phase. This is where there is a waddling gait, lumbar lordosis, calf pseudohypertrophy, calf pain, and the Gowers' sign. The calf pseudohypertrophy is due to the muscle fibers being replaced by fat and connective tissue.³⁷ The Gowers' sign involves an individual utilizing hand to floor support with their legs spread apart and then crawling up their thighs with their hands for support to achieve a standing position, which occurs due to the weakened pelvic girdle muscles.³⁶ In addition, preclinical cardiac symptoms can occur. Pre-clinical cardiac involvement is seen in 25% of individuals under age 6 years and 59% between ages 6-10 years¹⁰². James et al. 2010 examined the prevalence of electrocardiography abnormalities in children with DMD under 6 years old in order to assess correlations between electrocardiography and echocardiography evidence of cardiomyopathy.⁹⁸ As a result, 78% of individuals were found to have electrocardiography abnormalities are quite prevalent in early stages of the condition well before the clinical onset of cardiac symptoms.

Between the ages of 6 to 11 years, the late ambulatory stage, there is rapid muscle deterioration over a 2–3-year period where the individual can quickly lose the ability to climb stairs even with rails, achieve a standing position, or walk a short distance (750 cm).⁹⁵ Joint contractures occur at the ankle, knee, wrist, elbow, and hip which inhibit mobility. The ankle

contractures lead to persistent toe walking⁹⁶. Individuals typically use leg braces around age 10 years to ambulate.³⁷ In addition, beginning before age 10 years deep tendon reflexes are starting to be difficult to elicit in the knee, tricep, and bicep (50%). The ankle reflex could be elicited in 33% of individuals even during the final stages of the condition.⁹⁷

Between the ages of 11-13 years old, the early non-ambulatory phase, weakness in upper and lower extremities progresses. A wheelchair is the main mode of mobility as this is the age range where loss of ambulation typically occurs.³⁸ Scoliosis begins at the average age of 13.29 years due to muscles of the trunk becoming weaker.^{31,100} Respiratory muscles become weaker thus beginning the decline in respiratory function.¹⁰¹ During the late non-ambulatory phase, which occurs in the late teens to late 20s, respiratory failure in addition to cardiac failure, due to dilated cardiomyopathy, starts to occur. Respiratory failure is the leading cause of death at an average age of 17.7 years.³⁹ Dilated cardiomyopathy is the sole cause of death in only 20% of individuals with DMD at the average age of 19.6 years.^{39,103} Nigro et al., 1990 found that clinical cardiomyopathy is typically evident around 10 years old and is seen in 33% of individuals by age 14, 50% by age 18, and 100% of individuals over age 18 years.¹⁰² Typically, median survival is around 19 years, but there has been an improvement in survival. A study conducted in 2012 found a significant improvement in survival where those born more recently (i.e., 1980-1989) had a higher chance of surviving beyond age 20-25 years.³⁹ This is due to the advancements in management and treatments.⁴⁰⁻⁴² Another study found that there was an 85% probability to survive to age 30 years.⁴³ Even with medical advancements individuals typically do not survive beyond the third decade.^{39,43}

Other features of DMD include neurocognitive, gastrointestinal, and decreased bone health. Cognitive features include learning difficulties such as difficulties in verbal and reading skills, and verbal memory, though the extent is variable and there are other factors such as physical disability, environmental factors, and age that could influence these features.¹⁰⁴⁻¹¹⁰ Banihani et al. 2015 and Ricotti et al. 2016, found that attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), autism spectrum disorder (ASD), learning disabilities, and anxiety were present in 32%, 15%, 44%, and 27% of individuals with DMD.¹¹¹⁻¹¹² Several studies have found that as an individual's condition progresses, they may experience depression or anxiety symptoms.¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵ It is imperative to counsel individuals on and be sure they have appropriate support systems that can aide in minimizing these symptoms. Other behavioral aspects include lack of attention span, executive control difficulties, as well as poor social skills.¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁹ Gastrointestinal features are quite common in individuals with DMD. About 8 out of 11 individuals can have a range of symptoms including but not limited to delayed gastric emptying, acute gastroparesis, and abdominal pain.¹²⁰⁻¹²¹ Lastly, individuals with DMD are at significantly increased risk for osteoporosis when they lose ambulation, and it is more severe in the lower limbs.¹²² This can cause an increased risk for fractures.

2.1.6 Treatment and Management

Management for individuals with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy is comprehensive and multidisciplinary due to the involvement of multiple systems. Similar to the natural history of the condition treatment and management protocols for DMD are implemented in five stages: diagnosis, early ambulatory, late ambulatory, early non-ambulatory, and late non-ambulatory. Since features of the condition can present in slight variation of age between individuals, the implementation of care should occur on a continuum. A neurologist who specializes in neuromuscular diseases, typically at a neuromuscular care center, should lead the multidisciplinary team and assess the patient every 6 months following diagnosis. This doctor is responsible for assessing the individual's strength, function, and range of movement as well as advising on new

therapies, educating patients and their families, and providing support. During the diagnosis and early ambulatory stage, discussion, initiation, and management of glucocorticoid steroid treatment should occur. Corticosteroid therapy significantly improves strength, lung function, motor function, and delays onset and progression of cardiomyopathy.¹²³⁻¹²⁵ Balaban et al. 2005 examined the long-term functional status in males with DMD who were taking prednisone, deflazacort, or no steroid use.¹²⁴ It was discovered that males taking either steroid brand significantly retain function and have slower disease progression than males in the control group. Both steroid brands were equally effective. Steroid therapy also helps prolong ambulation and delay scoliosis because of the prolonged ambulation.¹²⁶⁻¹²⁷ Takeuchi et al. 2013 discovered that the age at which individuals with DMD lost ambulation was significantly older in those who took prednisone compared to those who did not.¹²⁶ Side effects of corticosteroids include excessive weight gain, short stature, facial fullness, behavioral changes, gastrointestinal complications, blood pressure changes, hypertrichosis, acne, cataracts, and decreased bone health.^{124,128-131} The challenge with glucocorticoid steroids is what dosage provides the greatest benefit while minimizing the side effects.¹³² This challenge can result in variations of undertreatment or overtreatment. Other specialists that are important to the management of DMD include Rehabilitation, Cardiologist, Pulmonologist, Orthopedist, Neuropsychologist, Endocrinologist, and Gastroenterologist or Nutritionist.

Rehabilitation management includes providing referrals for occupational, physical, and speech therapy to maintain mobility, conserve energy, prevent injuries, manage pain, and learning support. They also coordinate the provision of mobility devices, standing devices, and assistive technologies. Cardiology will implement cardiac function management. During the diagnosis stage a baseline electrocardiogram and echocardiogram should occur. Cardiac function should be checked annually or sooner if symptoms are present. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors are a first-line management choice for those with dilated cardiomyopathy. Individuals with DMD should be placed on this medication by age 10 years.¹⁴⁵ Duboc et al., 2007 examined the ACE inhibitor Perindopril's preventative effect on mortality in males with DMD whose left ventricular function was within normal limits over a 10-year period.¹⁴⁶ The results indicate that the medicine was able to significantly lower mortality. Pulmonology should be involved to assess lung function every 6 months starting in the early ambulatory stage. Pulmonary function tests should begin around age 8 or 9 years.^{101,147} Nocturnal and daytime ventilation and cough assist can be initiated at the end of the early non-ambulatory stage when lung function starts to decrease.¹⁴⁵ Orthopedics manage contractures, range of motion, and scoliosis. Spinal fusion can be considered in certain circumstances during the early non-ambulatory to late non-ambulatory stage. Individuals who lose ambulation later were less likely to require spinal surgery. Those who had spinal surgery and nocturnal ventilation have a median survival of 30 years, and those only using nocturnal ventilation had a median survival of 22.2 years.^{41,148} Neuropsychologists can evaluate and provide resources for any learning, emotional, or behavioral concerns. Nutritionists and gastroenterologists can aide in maintaining a healthy weight, vitamin D and calcium levels, swallowing function, and minimizing gastric upset.

Treatments such as exon skipping therapy and Ataluren are available for individuals with certain DMD gene variants. Exon skipping, where the cell's transcriptional machinery is made to skip an exon containing a deletion or duplication that would cause DMD, allows DMD to be converted to the milder BMD phenotype.¹³³⁻¹³⁴ In theory 83% of individuals can be treated with this technique.¹³⁵ Exon skipping therapy for exons 51,¹³⁶⁻¹³⁷ 45,¹⁴⁰ and 53¹³⁹ are available and deemed safe and preliminarily effective.¹³⁸ Studies show that the exon skipping therapy causes a

significant increase in dystrophin and sustained ambulation compared to controls. This type of therapy is only available for individuals with deletions of specific exons which results in ~29% of the Duchenne population being eligible to receive the treatment.¹³⁵

Ataluren is available for the 11% of individuals with point mutations, specifically nonsense variants, within the DMD gene. Nonsense variants cause a premature stop codon to be created, thus disrupting transcription. Ataluren acts to ignore the stop codon and continue to make the dystrophin protein.¹⁴² Studies showed that the treatment allowed for a slower decline rate in the six-minute walking distance measure than the placebo group, though the difference was found not to be statistically significant.¹⁴¹ Gene therapy is currently being utilized at the research level.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁵ As gene therapy is being developed, scientists and clinicians will have to address patients having dystrophin-specific T-cell immunity which could affect the success of the treatment¹⁴³. This risk has been shown to increase with age, but glucocorticoid steroid treatment can decrease the risk.¹⁴⁴

2.2 Parental Experience

2.2.1 Stages of Grief

When parents learn that their child has a disability or chronic illness, they experience a grief response that is similar to that of when a child dies¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵. Adjusting to the fact that their child is different from what they were expecting, parents often go through multiple stages of grief developed by Kubler-Ross. The five stages of grief are denial, bargaining, depression, anger, and acceptance.¹⁴⁹ The stage of guilt can sometimes be substituted for bargaining.¹⁵⁶ These stages should not be thought of as a linear process. There is no guidebook or timetable for how the

grieving process should unfold. The process is extremely individualistic and has great variety between individuals. Kubler-Ross 1969 based her grief model on observations of the terminally ill.¹⁴⁹ While this model fits with the end stages of DMD, other grief models have been developed that may be applicable to families during the diagnosis and early stages of DMD. Therese Rando developed a mourning process model consisting of the "Six R's": recognize, react, recollect and/or re-experience, relinquish, readjust, and reinvest¹⁵⁰. Rando's model can be applied to how parents cope and adjust to their child's diagnosis. Margret Stroebe and Henk Strut's "Dual Process" model of grieving describes how an individual deals with loss by oscillating between the internal loss orientation and restoration orientation. The internal loss state is where the individual focuses on the loss that they are experiencing and the motions that surround it while the restoration state focuses on aspects of life that we need or want.¹⁵¹ As a result, the loss is processed over time in the capacity at which the individual is capable of while dealing with aspects of everyday life. Lastly, Schneider 1983 provides a holistic approach to grief that not only examines how grief affects an individual in the biological, emotional, and behavioral sense, but also one's intellect, spirituality, and attitude.¹⁵² The model promotes growth and self-awareness. In Schneider's model there are six stages of grief: initial awareness, strategies to overcome loss, awareness of loss, completions, resolution and reformulation, and transcending loss.¹⁵² At first each new roadblock may trigger feelings of frustration but overtime the coping tools become stronger. By the time the individual is transcending the loss they are no longer inhibited by the emotional weight of it. They can use their newly found energy to seek activities that would bring enjoyment to their child, themselves, and the family.^{152,157} These models may help us to understand what parents are going through but will not be reflective of all experiences.

2.2.2 Children with disabilities or chronic illness

Coping is the constant changing of both cognitive and behavior efforts to manage a situation, whether it be internal or external, that is beyond the person's capability at that specific moment in time.¹⁵⁸ As discussed above coping is an integral part of the grieving process; therefore, coping itself is a continuously changing process that is rooted in the context of the situation. Strategies for coping constantly evolve as the root of the stress unfolds. It is no surprise that parents are a significant part of their child's life, growth and development.¹⁷¹ When a child with disabilities is born, parents not only have to cope with the same parental stressors as the general population, but parents must cope and adapt to stressors unique to the child's disability.¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵ Some studies concluded that parents of children with chronic illness adapt no differently than parents who do not have a child with chronic illness.^{176-178,181} Breslau et al., 1986 found that there was no significant difference in the rate of major depressive disorder between mothers of children with disabilities and the control sample.¹⁷⁷ Kovacs et al., 1985 revealed that parents were mildly or subclinically depressed or anxious during their child's diagnosis, then after 6 months of going through the grief process the symptoms subsided.¹⁷⁸ On the other hand, there have also been numerous studies supporting greater levels of psychological stress in parents who have children with a disability or chronic illness compared to controls.^{160,180} The fact that there is a large variety of chronic illnesses that vary in severity along with variation between parents' attitudes, beliefs, and abilities might account for lack of cohesiveness in the literature.

There are specific time periods where parental stress occurs. Clements et al. 1990 investigated parental experiences that were deemed difficult in regard to caring for a child with a chronic illness.¹⁵⁹ The diagnosis period and times of disease progression were found to have high amounts of stress. At diagnosis parents felt guilt, shock, hopelessness, uncertainty, isolation,

denial, fear, anger, confusion, and depression.^{164-165,169-170} Due to these psychosocial stressors, parents are significantly more likely to report psychological symptoms with mothers reporting more often than fathers.^{163-164,166} In addition to the parental experience at diagnosis Heiman 2002, explored parents' experience after the diagnosis period had completed. The author found that the majority of parents reported never-ending emotional fatigue, social isolation, lack of freedom, and had an unmet need for information on social and psychological resources. In the same study 75% of parents felt that the feelings they experienced at the diagnosis stage had turned into joy, love, happiness, and satisfaction. On the other hand, 25% still felt anger, guilt, sadness, and frustration.¹⁶⁵ The fact that some parents still felt sadness and frustration correlates with the concept of chronic sorrow. This term described by Olshansky 1962 states that while grieving can vary, in regard to intensity and time, it continually affects the individual.¹⁶² It is often described in a wave-like fashion. This data endorses the fact that the parental experience, while noting similarities, is individualistic.

Numerous studies have investigated how parents of a child with a chronic illness or disability cope. One study found that maintaining family cohesion, intellectualization, and maintaining social support aided in parental adjustment.¹⁷² Other studies showed similar coping mechanisms with the addition of using direct efforts such as planning, taking control, and problem solving as well as using different approaches to life such as hope, living in the moment, and not dwelling on difficulties.^{161,168} Parents tend to significantly use more avoidant coping, lowered belief that life situations will work out as well as expected and have less focus on personal growth compared to parents who do not have a child with a disability.¹⁷⁹ Avoidant coping can be recognized in parents who focus on the needs of their child with disabilities above all else.¹⁷⁰ Both mothers and fathers have the capability to adapt and have close-knit social support networks.¹⁶⁶⁻

¹⁶⁷ Clements et al. 1990 reported that when parents have resources to attend to the emotional and physical aspects of caring for a child who is chronically ill, distress symptoms are minimized.¹⁵⁹

2.2.3 Children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

By nature, Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy falls under the category of disability and chronic illness. This condition, for which there is no cure, causes progressive muscle weakness throughout the body resulting in a physical disability. Due to this it is reasonable to see similarities and differences between coping for parents of children with DMD, other chronic illness/disability, or no chronic illness/disability. Parents of children with Duchenne Muscular dystrophy display a similar experience, if not a more significant level of psychological stress, to parents of children with other chronic illnesses.¹⁹⁰ They also experience more stress, five times more, than parents of children without a chronic illness/disability.^{191-194,198} Miller, 1990 demonstrated that the most stressful periods for parents and families of individuals with Duchene Muscular Dystrophy are the time of diagnosis, loss of ambulation, adolescence, and end stages of the condition.² At the time of diagnosis parents feel angry, sad, depressed, low self-esteem, fear, guilt, confusion, powerlessness, overwhelmed, uncertain, anxiety, anguish, and shock.^{4,186,199-201} Of course, these feelings are similar to those grounded in grief models. Some parents want psychosocial support to be readily available while others are simply not ready.^{3,183,201}

As their child's condition progresses some parents still feel anxiety, overwhelmed, uncertainty, low self-esteem, and/or depressed.^{4,185-186} They experience chronic sorrow where there is a continuous period of loss, and adaptation that challenges their coping ability each time as the condition progresses.^{182,188,201} In the study conducted by Saetrang et al. 2019, one parent even described how the sorrow comes on suddenly causing immense exhaustion and feelings of being

alone in their grief.²⁰¹ This parent even recognized that both the child and them should receive professional help to deal with the life-limiting aspect of the condition as it progresses, but they did not feel that they were in a position to bring up the concerns during their child's medical appointment. Reid et al., 2001 and Gocheva et al., 2019 found that the level of family stress significantly predicts the psychosocial adjustment of the child with DMD.^{193,198} These findings provide further evidence on the efficacy of treating the family in a holistic manner or even introducing palliative care at some point for emotional and spiritual support.

Often parents are the sole caregiver for their child throughout the child's lifetime (78.1%).¹⁸⁹ Numerous studies have shown that overall parents are at an increased risk for developing or experiencing depression or anxiety.^{3-4,185-187,195-197} 31-80% of parents report experiencing moderate or severe depression or cried sometimes, often, or always^{3-4,186-187}. As for anxiety, 21-50% report experiencing moderate to severe anxiety where there is constant worrying.^{3,185,187} In addition, 50-60% of parents report poor sleep quality, reduced sleep efficiency, and daytime dysfunction, which can exacerbate mental health symptoms.^{185-186,196,201-204} Due to the prevalence of psychological symptoms and distress it is recommended that parents receive counseling on appropriate psychological interventions.

Several studies have investigated how parents of children with DMD cope and adjust. Some utilize maladaptive coping styles, such as magical thinking, overprotection, internalization, and passive coping.^{3,184,193,201} Those who use these coping methods tend to have higher distress. Passive coping can occur when the psyche deems the situation too hard to talk about and has shown to have a correlation with anxiety where those who use this coping strategy have higher levels of anxiety.^{3,185,201} Since these maladaptive coping styles occur, psychological intervention could be used to introduce better coping strategies to minimize distress. Studies have shown that parents want support resources to develop better coping skills and parents have the ability to cope well if given the appropriate resources.^{183,199,201} Saetrang et al., 2019 found that parents needed professional help to work through the shock of their child's diagnosis.²⁰¹ Support resources can encourage coping strategies that parents describe as successful in minimizing distress such as living in the moment and appreciating present abilities, intellectualization, being proactive, and setting short-term goals.^{183,199,201} Mah et al., 2012 states that the need for psychological support may decrease slightly as the disease progresses due to better coping strategies, adjustment, and an accepted reality.¹⁸³

2.3 Psychological Interventions

2.3.1 Psychotherapy

According to the American Psychiatric Association psychotherapy is talk therapy with the goal of aiding individuals with mental health conditions or emotional difficulties minimize symptoms to increase healing and functionality.²⁰⁵ Dwight-Johnson et al. 2000 examined treatment preferences among individuals with depression. 83% of participants wanted some form of treatment with 67% preferring psychotherapy.²⁰⁶ Psychotherapy has also been shown to be more cost-effective than psychiatry.²⁰⁷ The types of therapy, including cognitive behavioral therapy,²⁰⁸⁻²¹⁴ interpersonal therapy,²¹⁵⁻²¹⁷ psychodynamic and psychoanalysis therapy,²¹⁹⁻²²³ and supportive therapy,²²⁴⁻²³⁰ have shown to be effective in treating mental health conditions. Rush et al., 1977 found that psychotherapy showed significant improvement for patients with depression compared to pharmacotherapy. 78.9% of the patients in therapy showed marked improvement or complete

remission of symptoms compared to 22.7% of the pharmacotherapy group.²⁰⁸ In addition, the dropout rate was significantly lower for the therapy group. Stanley et al. 2003, showed that psychotherapy was able to significantly reduce anxiety severity, worrying, and depressive symptoms.²¹⁴ Psychotherapy can also increase social functioning, problem-solving skills, and healthy coping mechanisms.²¹⁸ The different types of therapies have proven to be effective on their own, so researchers have compared the therapies on their effectiveness. Numerous studies have shown that there are no significant differences between the types of therapy and patients can equally benefit from each.²²⁹⁻²³³ Any differences between therapies could simply depend on the patient's preference or their specific needs. This shows that patients psychotherapy treatment can be individualized for which method suits their needs and personality.

2.3.2 Psychiatry

Psychiatry is a form of medical care in which a medical doctor specializing in mental health examines the mental and physical aspects of mental health conditions to diagnose, treat, and prevent them.²³⁴ The most common treatment that psychiatrists are involved in is the prescription and management of psychiatric medication such as anti-depressants, anti-psychotics,²³⁵⁻²³⁶ stimulants,²³⁷⁻²³⁹ and anxiolytics. Anti-depressants are used to treat depression,^{215,249-250} anxiety,^{241,244} panic disorders,^{240,243,245-246} post-traumatic stress disorder,^{242,247} and obsessive-compulsive disorder.²⁴⁸ An international collaborative study found that antidepressants were prescribed in 7.7% of anxiety conditions compared to 31.9% of depressive conditions.²⁵¹ Malt et al., 1999 found that antidepressants were effective in treating depression, even recurring depression, compared to a placebo control group.²⁵⁰ Although there are countless studies confirming the effectiveness of antidepressants, about 50-55% of patients with depression are

treatment resistant, meaning they do not respond to the medication.²⁵²⁻²⁵³ Treatment resistance has been correlated with other psychological and medical comorbidities. This includes anxiety, personality, and bipolar disorder and heart disease, cancer, and diabetes.²⁵⁴⁻²⁵⁷ Those with treatment resistant depression are also at increased risk of morbidity, high medical costs, and lower quality of life.²⁵⁸⁻²⁶³ Anxiolytics are utilized to treat anxiety conditions. An example of an anxiolytic are benzodiazepines. While benzodiazepines are highly effective and relatively safe when used for acute anxiety conditions,²⁶⁴⁻²⁶⁸ they are not ideal for chronic generalized anxiety disorder (GAD).

2.3.3 Support Groups

Support groups by definition are comprised of a group of individuals who share a similar life stressor, transition, or affliction engaging in mutual support to improve coping and adjustment, alleviate loneliness, facilitate personal empowerment, and offer a sense of community.^{271,275,301} This is done through listening to and sharing information, feelings, various coping strategies, and personal experiences. 40% of Americans had been a member of a supportive group at some point in their lives.²⁷² Social support is imperative for families of children with chronic illness or disabilities.²⁷³⁻²⁷⁴ Parents report that they do not obtain the same level of support from family friends or health care professionals compared with support groups.¹⁶⁹ Studies looking at the efficacy of support groups showed that the intervention was able to significantly reduce anxiety, stress, depression, and the risk for mental health illness.^{275,277-280} Social support increased feelings of coping, self-confidence, and optimism while significantly decreasing feelings of helplessness.²⁷⁸ Another study found that those who do not participate in support groups have significantly higher levels of depression, anxiety, phobic

22

anxiety, feeling personal inadequacy/inferiority compared to others, and paranoid ideation.²⁸² Parental experience in support groups was studied for parents within the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community. Kornfeld et al., 1979 found that parents were able to express fears or concerns, learn from each other, and increase their awareness of attitudes toward themselves, their children (with or without DMD), and the world in general, which helps facilitate coping.¹⁸⁸

A common example of a support groups for parents of children with chronic illness or disabilities is the Parent-to-Parent network. Parents of children with disabilities are uniquely qualified to help each other since they possess the knowledge of the 24-hour-a-day reality of their child's condition that others not in that situation do not possess. Parent-to-parent network was able to show a statistically significant gain in accepting family and disability (adaptation). 89% of parents rated the parent-to-parent group as helpful.²⁷⁶ The parent-to-parent network is intended to connect parents who have a child with the same condition. This sense of sameness between the parents is crucial and there is support theory that supports this.²⁸⁵⁻²⁸⁸ Thoitis 1986 and Taylor et al., 1990 describe how when there is perceived sameness within support groups it makes the advice and information shared have an increased level of credibility.^{285,288} A successful parent-to-parent match is when there are not only similar child circumstances but also parental personalities and background. Parents report that they gained a realization that they were not alone, found individuals who truly understand their lived experience, were able to offer support to others, gained confidence and a sense of normalcy, and learned through social comparison from parents whose children were older.^{169,270} With social comparison there can be positive upward comparison that gave hope or positive downward comparison where parents counted their blessings that their child was not worse off compared to other children.²⁹⁰ In addition, parents were able to quickly reach a stage, a few years after their child was born, where the need for support lessened. Even though

they reach this stage, contacts and friendship were sustained. However, attendance to meeting tended to decrease as the child's age increased.

Those who are dissatisfied with offline support are significantly more likely to get support online.²⁶⁹ There's a sense of anonymity that puts one at ease especially with the fear of stigmatization.³⁰¹ Having the support group online is a cost saving for society while providing support for those who were experiencing an emotional toll, needing a place for catharsis, seeking specific advice, or to problem solve.²⁸⁹ Oprescu et al., 2013 found that information discussed or shared is primarily personal experience (87%) rather than medical information (13%) to manage uncertainty.³⁰⁰ They also found that women tend to utilize online support groups more than men.

With all the positive aspects of support groups there can also be negative aspects. Often times in support groups information regarding the specific health condition can be shared.²⁸¹ Due to this there is a potential for misinformation to be spread. One study found that information on a bariatric surgery Facebook group was 7% inaccurate and 29% may or may not have been inaccurate but needed more context to determine accuracy.²⁸⁴ On the other hand, another study found that information on a breast cancer support group site was false or misleading 0.22% of the time and of that 70% were corrected for accuracy.²⁸³ It is important that the source and content of the information being spread is validated. Social comparison produces effective support because experiences are validated. However, social comparison can turn negative when differences between parents arise and can further exacerbate isolation, feelings of inferiority, and distress.²⁸⁵ The differences can include different communication styles, outlooks on disability, and differing beliefs and parental styles.²⁷⁰ There can be negative upward comparison where parents feel inferior compared to others and negative downward comparison where parents see other children at a more advanced stage of the disease felt distressed because they are confronted with the realization that

eventually their child will reach that stage. When negative comparisons occur, it is important for parents to reflect on the common ground that brings the community together, engage with another parent that has a higher level of sameness, or avoid social comparisons by not attending a support group.²⁹⁰

2.4 Barriers to Psychological Interventions

2.4.1 Common Barriers

Studies conducted in the United States of America as well as across the world show that a majority of individuals experiencing mental health concerns remain untreated or do not seek treatment.^{311,313-315} Blumenthal et al., 1996 reports that 45% of individuals seek treatment for their mental health concerns while 56% do not.³¹⁵ They also found that those who had sought treatment in the past were significantly more likely to seek treatment again. Other studies found that approximately 20% of individuals referred to psychotherapy go through with utilizing the psychological intervention.³¹⁶⁻³¹⁷ Since most individuals do not utilize psychological treatments, it is reasonable to question what barriers or reasons prevent individuals from seeking treatment. Typically, the types of barriers can be divided into two categories: attitudinal and structural.

Attitudinal barriers are internal factors or reasons that affects utilization of psychological interventions. Numerous studies have shown that internal beliefs and attitudes affect a person's receptivity to psychological interventions.^{315,318-321} Pyne et al., 2005 concluded that those who have negative attitudes towards psychiatric medications are less likely to be prescribed the medications, less likely to fill the prescription, and less likely to achieve beneficial outcomes.³²¹ Jorm et al.,
2008 studied this occurrence further and discovered that those who have negative attitudes about psychiatry tend to be equally or more negative about other psychological interventions and may reject psychological treatment altogether.³²⁰ Other attitudinal barriers include believing in handling the mental health concerns alone, low perceived need or severity of concerns, believing treatments would not help, and stigma.^{310,315} Furthermore, mental health symptoms, such as depression, can further exacerbate attitudinal barriers such as lack of motivation, emotional concerns, negative feelings toward therapy, and stigma.⁵

Structural barriers are external reasons that prevent an individual from seeking psychological interventions or having access to psychological interventions. A study conducted on the primary care patient population found that some perceived barriers to psychotherapy include cost, time constraints, transportation difficulties, and childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones. The same study also reported that 59.5% of participants stated that at least one of the barriers mentioned would make it difficult to attend and participate in psychotherapy.⁵ In the past, numerous studies found that financial costs tend to be a major structural barrier due to high costs or lack of insurance coverage.³⁰⁶⁻³⁰⁹ Wang et al., 2005 found that those in low-income, low education, urban areas have higher treatment inadequacy.³¹¹ However, the implementation of Health Maintenance Organizations (HMOs) and the Affordable Care Act, individuals have better access to psychological interventions.³⁰²⁻³⁰⁵ Lastly, for parents of children with a disability or chronic illness, the main structural barrier tends to be the lack of time.²⁷⁰ Understanding the prevalence of these barriers allows for health care providers as well as public health workers to create ways in which these barriers can be minimized to improve access to psychological interventions especially when there is a clear unmet need for a group of individuals.

2.5 Summary

Overall, there is countless literature describing the experiences and feelings of parents of children with various chronic illnesses or disabilities. Parents of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy are no different. Research has been conducted describing their experiences during their child's diagnosis, how they felt, the stages of grief that they go through, the stress they continue to feel as the disease progresses and the grief of losing their child to this life-limiting condition. It is known, without a doubt, that parents within the DMD community can experience mental health symptoms such as anxiety and depression. However, there seems to be a lack of literature describing the proportion of parents who utilize psychological interventions such as psychotherapy, psychiatry, and support groups. There have been qualitative studies showing that parents of children with DMD find support groups helpful, but as for the other interventions there are no studies to our knowledge. For this reason, this study will aim to capture the utilization rates for each psychological intervention. In addition, this study will examine the barriers to these interventions. Many studies have described barriers to each intervention, but to our knowledge no research has been conducted to examine barriers to psychological interventions for parents within the DMD community.

3.0 Manuscript

3.1 Background

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked neuromuscular condition that typically affects on average 7 (range 1-16) per 100,000 males worldwide.^{6-27,28} It is caused by variants in the *DMD* gene, located on the X chromosome.²⁸ Variants can cause absent or decreased production of dystrophin; an essential protein needed to form and maintain healthy muscle. Individuals with DMD present with symptoms typically around 2 to 5 years of age.³¹⁻³³ Initial symptoms include delayed motor milestones, difficulty climbing stairs, waddling, persistent toe walking, elevated creatine phosphokinase, calf hypertrophy, and the classic Gower maneuver.³³⁻³⁷ As the disease progresses there is symmetric muscle weakness, and the proximal muscles are more affected than the distal muscles. By age 13 years, most individuals utilize a wheelchair full time for mobility needs due to loss of ambulation.³⁸

The condition not only affects the skeletal muscle, but also cardiac and respiratory muscle. Involvement of cardiac muscle leads to dilated cardiomyopathy resulting in heart failure. Later stages of DMD might require ventilation support due to breathing difficulty. Cardiopulmonary complications that arise are usually the cause of death within the second to third decade of life.³⁹ Life expectancy has increased over the years as new treatments emerge, but there is no known cure for DMD.³⁹⁻⁴³ Treatments and management guidelines are strictly supportive but can delay disease progression. Treatments such as exon-skipping and stop-codon-read-through therapy are available depending on the individual's genetic variant and stage of disease. Gene therapy is currently being studied at the research level.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁵

Grief models developed by Kubler-Ross, Therese Rando, Stroebe and Strut, and Schneider encapsulate the grieving process that parents of children with chronic illness or disability go through. Kubler-Ross's five stages of grief are denial, bargaining, depression, anger, and acceptance.¹⁴⁹ The stage of guilt can sometimes be substituted for bargaining.¹⁵⁶ While this model fits with the end stages of DMD, other grief models have been developed that may be applicable to families during the diagnosis and early stages of DMD. Therese Rando developed a mourning process model consisting of the "Six R's": recognize, react, recollect and/or re-experience, relinquish, readjust, and reinvest.¹⁵⁰ Rando's model can be applied to how parents cope and adjust to their child's diagnosis. Margret Stroebe and Henk Strut's "Dual Process" model of grieving describes how an individual deals with loss by oscillating between the internal loss orientation and restoration orientation. The internal loss state is where the individual focuses on the loss that they are experiencing and the motions that surround it while the restoration state focuses on aspects of life that we need or want.¹⁵¹ As a result, the loss is processed over time in the capacity at which the individual is capable of while dealing with aspects of everyday life. Lastly, Schneider 1983's model provides a holistic approach to grief that is applicable to families during the diagnosis and early stages of DMD.¹⁵² This holistic approach not only examines how grief affects an individual in the biological, emotional, and behavioral sense, but also one's intellect, spirituality, and attitude. In Schneider's model there six stages of grief: initial awareness, strategies to overcome loss, awareness of loss, completions, resolution, and reformulation, and transcending loss.¹⁵²

Parents of children with Duchenne Muscular dystrophy display a similar experience, if not a more significant level of psychological stress, to parents of children with other chronic illnesses.¹⁹⁰ They also experience five times more stress than parents of children without a chronic illness/disability^{191-194,198}. Miller, 1990 demonstrated that the most stressful periods for parents and families of individuals with Duchene Muscular Dystrophy are the time of diagnosis, loss of ambulation, adolescence, and end stages of the condition.² Numerous studies have shown that, overall, parents of individuals with DMD are at an increased risk for developing or experiencing depression or anxiety.^{3-4,185-187,195-197} 31-80% of parents report experiencing moderate or severe depression or cried sometimes, often, or always.^{3-4,186-187} 21-50% of parents report experiencing moderate to severe anxiety where there is constant worrying.^{3,185,187} In addition, 50-60% of parents report poor sleep quality, reduced sleep efficiency, and daytime dysfunction, which can exacerbate mental health symptoms.^{185-186,196,201-204}

Studies have shown that parents want support resources to develop better coping skills and parents can cope well, if given the appropriate resources.^{183,199,201} Saetrang et al., 2019 found that parents needed professional help to work through the shock of their child's diagnosis.²⁰¹ Support resources can encourage coping strategies that parents describe as 'successful' in minimizing distress, such as living in the moment and appreciating present abilities, intellectualization, being proactive, and setting short-term goals.^{183,199,201} Mah et al., 2012 states that the need for psychological support may decrease as the disease progresses due to better coping strategies, adjustment, and an accepted reality.¹⁸³

Psychological interventions including psychotherapy, psychiatry, and support groups have shown to be effective in helping those with mental health concerns. According to the American Psychiatric Association psychotherapy is talk therapy with the goal of aiding individuals with mental health conditions or emotional difficulties to minimize symptoms and increase healing and functionality.²⁰⁵ Psychiatry is a form of medical care in which a medical doctor specializing in mental health examines the mental and physical aspects of mental health conditions to diagnose, treat, and prevent them.²³⁴ Support groups, by definition, are comprised of a group of individuals who share a similar life stressor, transition, or affliction engaging in mutual support to improve coping and adjustment, alleviate loneliness, facilitate personal empowerment, and offer a sense of community.^{271,275,301} Parental experience in support groups has been studied for parents within the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community. Kornfeld et al., 1979 found that parents were able to express fears or concerns, learn from each other, and increase their awareness of attitudes toward themselves, their children (with or without DMD), and the world in general.¹⁸⁸ Those who are dissatisfied with offline support are significantly more likely to get support online²⁶⁹. The disinhibition effect is the sense of anonymity that puts one at ease reducing the fear of stigmatization.³⁰¹ With the positive aspects of support groups there are also negative aspects, such as social comparison,²⁸⁵ and support groups may not be helpful for all individuals.²⁹⁰

Studies conducted in the U.S. as well as across the world show that a majority of individuals experiencing mental health concerns remain untreated or do not seek treatment.^{311,313-315} Blumenthal et al., 1996 reports that 45% of individuals seek treatment for their mental health concerns while 56% do not.³¹⁵ Since most individuals do not utilize psychological treatments, it is reasonable to question what barriers or reasons prevent individuals from seeking treatment. Typically, the types of barriers can be divided into two categories: attitudinal and structural. Attitudinal barriers are internal factors or reasons that affect utilization of psychological interventions, include negative attitudes towards mental health interventions, believing in handling the mental health concerns alone, low perceived need or severity of concerns, believing treatments would not help, and stigma.^{310,315,320-321} Numerous studies have shown that internal beliefs and attitudes affect a person's receptivity to psychological interventions.^{315,318-321} Furthermore, mental health symptoms, such as depression, can further exacerbate attitudinal barriers such as lack of motivation, emotional concerns, negative feelings toward therapy, and stigma.⁵

Structural barriers are external reasons that prevent an individual from seeking psychological interventions or having access to psychological interventions. A study conducted on the primary care patient population found that some perceived barriers to psychotherapy include cost, time constraints, transportation difficulties, and childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones. The same study also reported that 59.5% of participants stated that at least one of the barriers mentioned would make it difficult to attend and participate in psychotherapy.⁵ In the past numerous studies found that financial costs tend to be a major structural barrier due to high costs or lack of insurance coverage.³⁰⁶⁻³⁰⁹ Wang et al., 2005 found that those in low-income, low education, urban areas have higher treatment inadequacy.³¹¹ However, the implementation of Health Maintenance Organizations (HMOs) and the Affordable Care Act, individuals have better access to psychological interventions.³⁰²⁻³⁰⁵ Lastly, for parents of children with a disability or chronic illness, the main structural barrier tends to be the lack of time.²⁷⁰ Understanding the prevalence of these barriers allows for health care providers as well as public health workers to create ways in which these barriers can be minimized to improve access to psychological interventions especially when there is a clear unmet need for a group of individuals.

This study utilized an online quantitative survey targeted to parents or guardians of individuals diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy to assess the percentage of parents/guardians of individuals diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy who have utilized psychological interventions, such as psychotherapy, psychiatry, or group therapy. In addition, the survey will also examine the barriers or reasons parents/guardians of individuals with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy chose not to utilize psychological interventions. The results of this survey will help genetic counselors and other healthcare providers to better meet the psychological needs

of parents/guardians of individuals with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy or other neuromuscular conditions.

3.2 Methods

The University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board approved this study (STUDY20100066) as Exempt which met their regulatory requirements. A copy of the IRB approval letter is included in Appendix A.

3.2.1 Study Population

The target population for this research was parents or guardians 18 years of age and older who have a living or deceased child/children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. The families could live anywhere in the world. The only exclusion criterion was if the parent or guardian did not have at least one child with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy.

3.2.2 Survey Development

The survey was developed in Qualtrics, a web-based service that allows users to easily create a survey, collect and store data securely, analyze responses, and generate graphs of results. This software meets the University Data Security standards. The full survey (Appendix C) consisted of 40 questions, both multiple choice and matrix style. Skip logic was utilized to show participant questions relevant to answers in certain questions answered previously. It contained

seven sections: informed consent, family history, personal psychological history, psychological health screening, utilization of psychological interventions, barriers to psychological interventions, and demographics. The psychological health screening section of the survey was adapted from the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) and Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) to screen for the presence of clinically significant anxiety disorder or depression, respectively.³²⁶⁻³²⁸ The survey was reviewed and piloted by the thesis committee before distribution and recruitment.

3.2.3 Survey Content

Within the informed consent section (Appendix B), the purpose, goals, risks, and benefits of the study were discussed. There were minimal risks to participants, which could include psychological distress when answering the questions. Participants were informed that their participation was entirely voluntary and anonymous. No identifying information was captured, and participants were able to exit the survey at any point. Email addresses of the principal investigator and faculty mentor were provided should participants have any questions about the study, survey, or results. Lastly, participants were asked to select if they consent to take the survey or not. If they consent to participate, they were able to begin the survey. If they chose not to participate, they were re-directed out of the survey.

The family history section's purpose was utilized to confirm that participants met the inclusion criteria and to trigger the skip-logic feature. The personal psychological history section ascertained whether parents were already utilizing psychological interventions due to a mental health diagnosis. The psychological health screening, utilization of psychological interventions, and barriers to psychological interventions sections had participants think about their experience as a parent of an individual with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy in two timeframes. Miller, 1990

demonstrated that the most stressful periods for parents and families of individuals with Duchene Muscular Dystrophy are at the time of diagnosis and at times of notable disease progression.² Based on this, parents were asked questions regarding their experience during the diagnosis and over the years as the disease progresses. If a family had received a diagnosis within the past 12 months, participants were only shown questions regarding their experience during their child's diagnosis. These screening measures were adapted with the help of a behavioral health specialist on the thesis committee. Participants were then asked if they have ever used certain psychological interventions. If participants answered "no" to utilizing a psychological intervention, they would be asked to select any barriers that prevented them from accessing those interventions. The last section asked participants to answer general demographic information.

3.2.4 Study Recruitment

Recruitment occurred via two methods: in-person and through distribution by advocacy groups. During the recruitment period an IRB approved flyer (Appendix D) was handed out to parents of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy in the Muscular Dystrophy Clinic at Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. Advocacy groups played a major role during recruitment. An IRB approved email script (Appendix E) along with the IRB approved flyer was emailed to numerous advocacy groups around the world in December 2020 and January 2021. The advocacy groups that agreed to aide in recruitment included Parent Project Duchenne (United States of America and Czech Republic), Therapeutic Research in Neuromuscular Disorders Solutions (TRiNDS), Little Steps Israel, and the Muscular Dystrophy Association (United States of America, Argentina, and Canada). The advocacy groups advertised the survey via social media posts and email list serv. The introductory script also asked participants to forward the survey to other parents who match the inclusion criteria and who would possibly be willing to complete the survey. The survey remained open from the end of December 2020 to the end of February 2021.

3.2.5 Descriptive Statistics and Thematic Analysis

The results of this study were evaluated using descriptive statistics. Measures of frequency were calculated for each section of the survey. For the demographic, family, and personal history section a total count as well as percent frequency was calculated within the variable such as race, age, and number of children. For the mental health screening participants were placed into categories based on their PHQ-9 and GAD-7 score. The categories were based on guidelines.³²⁶⁻³²⁷ The percent frequency was calculated then displayed within bar graphs. Percent frequency of utilization of psychological interventions was also calculated. The frequency of each barrier selected during the diagnosis stage and disease progression stage was calculated. Then, for each barrier the combined frequency was calculated and displayed in a bar graph. Thematic analysis occurred for participants who wrote in an answer to the selected barrier "Other personal reason." Answers that revealed similar topics, ideas, or language were grouped together.

3.3 Results

A total of 313 participants opened the survey. 33 (10%) participants opened the survey and did not answer any questions and were excluded from analysis. 280 participants opened the survey and answered some or all of the questions. Of those 280, 41 (14.6%) answered some questions but not the required questions, therefore these responses were excluded from analysis. 239 participants

completed the entire survey or all of the required questions. Of the 239 participants, 5 (2%) did not provide consent and 2 (0.8%) declined to participate in this study, therefore these responses were excluded from analysis. Of the 239 participants, 1 (0.4%) completed the required questions, but did not complete the demographic section. Due to this partial data was recorded. To participate in this study, participants were required to have at least 1 child with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. Of the 239 participants, 2 (0.8%) did not meet this requirement, therefore they were excluded from analysis. The final total number of participants that were included in the analysis was 230 (73%) individuals.

3.3.1 Demographics

Demographic statistics are detailed in Table 1. The sample population was predominantly female (84.8%), ranged in age from 35-44 years (38.7%), married (72.4%), had some college education (36.4%), has a household income of over \$100,000 (37.3%), and identified as White (84.3%). 5 (2.2%) of participants chose "Other/unknown" as their race/ethnicity and 3 of those 5 (60%) people wrote in their answer. Most participants reported "No religious affiliation" (26.1%). 44 participants selected "Other/unknown" under religious affiliation and 39 (89%) participants of those 44 wrote in an answer. Geographically, 96% of participants live in the United States of America followed by Czechia (1.3%), Canada (1.3%), United Kingdom (0.4%), Sweden (0.4%), and India (0.4%). Figure 1 demonstrates the number of participates in each state. The states with the largest number of participants were California, Texas, Florida, and Pennsylvania.

Table 1 Demographic Statistics				
Demographic		N (%)		
	Female	195 (84.8)		
Condon	Male	32 (14.8)		
Genuer	Non-binary/third gender	0 (0)		
	Other	0 (0)		
	Prefer not to say	1 (0.43)		
	18-24 years	0 (0)		
	25-34 years	21 (9.1)		
Age	35-44 years	89 (38.7)		
_	45-54 years	74 (32.2)		
	Over 55 years	46 (20)		
	White	194 (84.3)		
	Black or African American	2 (0.87)		
	Asian	9 (3.9)		
	Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	1 (0.4)		
Race/Ethnicity	Hispanic or Latino	23 (10)		
	American Indian or Alaska Native	1 (0.4)		
	Native American	0 (0)		
	Two or more	4 (1.7)		
	Other/Unknown	5 (2.2)		
	No religious affiliation	60 (26.1)		
	Protestant	43 (18.7)		
	Catholic	54 (23.5)		
	Mormon	2 (0.8)		
D oligious Affiliation	Jewish	2 (0.8)		
Kenglous Amnation	Hindu	5 (2.2)		
	Buddhist	1 (0.4)		
	Muslim	3 (1.3)		
	Other/unknown	44 (19.1)		
	Prefer not to say	14 (6.1)		
	Single- never married	14 (6.14)		
	Married	165 (72.4)		
Marital Status	In a domestic partnership	6 (2.6)		
Maritai Status	Divorced	31 (13.6)		
	Divorced and remarried	8 (3.5)		
	Widowed	4 (1.8)		
	High School or less	25 (11)		
Lovel of Education	Some College	83 (36.4)		
Level of Education	Bachelor's degree	64 (28.1)		
	Master's degree or higher	56 (24.6)		
Household Income	Less than \$20,000	18 (8.3)		
	\$20,000-\$34,999	23 (10.6)		
	\$35,000-\$49,999	20 (9.2)		
	\$50,000-\$74,999	33 (15.2)		

	\$75,000-\$99,999	42 (19.4)
	Over \$100,000	81 (37.3)
Country	United States of America	216 (96)
	United Kingdom	1 (0.4)
	Sweden	1 (0.4)
	India	1 (0.4)
	Czechia	3 (1.3)
	Canada	3 (1.3)

Figure 1: Participant Demographics in the United States of America. A number by the state name indicates the number of survey participants who reported living in the state.



3.3.2 Family and Personal History

230 participants were asked questions regarding their family history and personal psychiatric history (Table 2). A majority of the sample population had a total number of 2-4 children (77%) followed by 1 child (17.9%) and more than 4 children (5.2%). One of the inclusion criteria for the study was that the participants must have at least one child with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD). This study's sample population had either 1 (88%) or 2 (12%) children with

DMD. Before having a child diagnosed with DMD, a majority of parents did not have any children (48.3%). Parents were typically between the ages of 24-35 years old (57%) when their child with DMD was born and 93.5% of participants reported that their child had not been diagnosed with DMD within the past 12 months.

Participants were then asked questions regarding their personal psychiatric history. 80% of participants reportedly did not have a mental health diagnosis before they had their child with DMD. If participants answered "Yes" to having a mental health condition before their child was diagnosed with DMD, they were asked to list the name of their mental health condition. Twenty participants listed "Anxiety and Depression", twelve listed "Depression", five listed "Anxiety", and six participants had other mental health conditions. Most participants also reported that they had not utilized psychotherapy (mental health counseling) (72.2%) or psychiatry (86%) before their child with DMD was born.

Table 2 Family and Personal History S	Table 2 Family and Personal History Statistics				
<u>Category</u>		<u>N (%)</u>			
Total number of Children	1	41 (17.9)			
Total number of Children	2-4	177 (77)			
	More than 4	12 (5.2)			
	1	202 (88)			
Number of Children Diagnosed with DMD	2	28 (12)			
	3 or more	0 (0)			
	None	111 (48.3)			
Number of Children before beying a shild with DMD	1	69 (30)			
Number of Children before having a child with DND	2	34 (14.8)			
	3 or more	16 (7)			
Child diagnosed within the next 12 menths	Yes	15 (6.5)			
Clind diagnosed within the past 12 months	No	215 (93.5)			
	Under 18 years	3 (1.3)			
	18-24 years	31 (13.5)			
Age of percent when eldest shild with DMD was been	25-34 years	131 (57)			
Age of parent when oldest child with DWD was born	35-44 years	58 (25.2)			
	45-54 years	7 (3)			
	Over 55 years	0 (0)			
Mental Health diagnosis before child was diagnosed with	Yes	45 (20)			
DMD	No	185 (80)			

----. ~ . . .

Mental Health Counseling utilization before child with	Yes	64 (27.8)
DMD	No	166 (72.2)
Development utilization before shild with DMD	Yes	32 (14)
Psychiatry utilization before child with DWD	No	198 (86)
	•	

DMD: Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

3.3.3 Mental Health Screening

230 participants participated in mental health screening via the Public Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7). All participants answered screening questions for the time frame of their child's diagnosis. 215 participants answered screening questions for the time frame of their child's disease progression because they reported that their child was not diagnosed with DMD within the past 12 months. Figure 2A shows the results of the PHQ-9 screening during both the diagnosis and disease progression stage. During the diagnosis stage 94.78% of participants experienced varying degrees of depression symptoms with 42.6% experiencing moderate to severe depression. 5.22% had reported no symptoms of depression. During the disease progression stage, lower rates on depression occurred with 91.63% experiencing some level of depression and 23.26% experiencing moderate to severe depression. Figure 2B shows the results of the GAD-7 screening. 93.95-94.78% of participants experienced anxiety symptoms of varying severity. Participants experienced higher rates of moderate to severe anxiety during the diagnosis stage (58.26%) compared to the disease progression stage (34.41%). Overall, anxiety symptoms, especially moderate to severe, were more prevalent compared to depression symptoms.

Figure 2: Participant Mental Health Screening: A) Public health questionnaire-9 mental health screening for depression during the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy diagnosis and stages of disease progression of participants' children. B) Generalized anxiety disorder-7 mental health screening for Anxiety during the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy diagnosis and stages of disease progression of participants' children.



3.3.4 Psychological Intervention Utilization

Participants were asked about their utilization of psychological interventions during the diagnosis stage of their child's condition as well as when the child's condition has progressed over the years (Table 3). All 230 individuals were asked if they utilized psychological interventions during the diagnosis stage of their child's condition. 215 participants were additionally asked about their utilization of psychological interventions as their child's condition has progressed over the years. During the diagnosis stage the majority of participants did not utilize psychotherapy (67.4%), psychiatry (85.7%), in-person support groups (77.8%), or online support groups (78.3%). The same occurred for utilization of psychological interventions as the child's condition progresses. The majority of parents did not utilize psychotherapy (56.7%), psychiatry (80%), in-person support groups (67%). The proportion of individuals who did utilize each intervention was greater during the disease progression stage (20%-43.3%) compared to the diagnosis stage (14.3%-32.6%).

Intervention		Diagnosis	Disease Progression
		N (%)	N (%)
Psychotherapy (Mental	Yes	75 (32.6)	93 (43.3)
Health Counseling)	No	155 (67.4)	122 (56.7)
Psychiatry	Yes	33 (14.3)	43 (20)
	No	197 (85.7)	172 (80)
In-Person Support Group	Yes	51 (22.2)	59 (27.4)
	No	179 (77.8)	156 (72.6)
	Yes	50 (21.7)	71 (33)
Online Support Group	No	180 (78.3)	144 (67)

Table 3 Psychological Intervention Utilization

3.3.5 Barriers to Psychological Interventions

When participants answered "No" to any of the psychological intervention utilization questions, they were asked what barriers prevented them from accessing that psychological intervention. A list of barriers was provided, and participants were asked to check all that applied to them. Table 3 and Figure 3 describe the frequency at which each barrier was chosen. The top 3 barriers selected for psychotherapy were that participants did not feel the need to utilize the intervention (n=142), financial reasons (n=78), and time constraints (n=77). Similarly, the top 3 barriers to psychiatry were that participants did not feel the need to utilize the intervention, time constraints (n=83), and financial reasons (n=80). For both psychotherapy and psychiatry "I felt that I did not need to" was the most common reason selected. Participants not receiving a referral to the intervention was the fourth most frequent barrier for both psychotherapy (n=60) and psychiatry (n=70).

The 3 most common barriers for in-person and online support groups were a lack of local support group available (n=150), participants felt that they did not need a support group (n=131), and time constraints (n=85). Similar results occurred for online support groups where a lack of local support group available (n=131), participants felt that they did not need a support group (n=133), and time constraints (n=61) were the barriers most frequently chosen. The frequency at which a single participant chose multiple barriers was 105, 103, 84, and 72 for psychotherapy, psychiatry, in-person support groups, and online support groups, respectively. Overall, across all psychological interventions the predominating barriers or reasons for not utilizing an intervention were "I felt that I did not need to" and the lack of support groups available.

In addition, participants had the option to write in a barrier or reason for not utilizing a psychological intervention if they chose the option "Other personal reason". Table 5 shows the

44

qualitative themes that arose from participants' answers. Common themes for barriers shared across all four types of psychological interventions include: being emotionally overwhelmed, having other sources of support, the COVID-19 pandemic, and lack of resource information or availability. Psychiatry revealed to have alternative access with participants being prescribed medications by their primary care physician rather than a psychiatrist. Both psychotherapy and psychiatry had barriers due to stigma. Lastly, both in-person and online support groups had barriers due to previous experiences being either not helpful or poor.

		Diagnosis		Total
Intervention	Barrier		Progression	
		Ν	Ν	Ν
	Time Constraints	45	32	77
	Financial Reasons	42	36	78
	Never received a referral	35	25	60
	Childcare or caring	26	20	46
	for sick/disabled			
Develotherapy (Mantal	loved ones			
Health Counceling)	Transportation	2	1	3
Health Coursening)	reasons			
	I felt that I did not	84	58	142
	need to			
	Other personal	13	10	23
	reason			
	Multiple barriers	60	45	105
	chosen			
	Time Constraints	43	40	83
	Financial Reasons	41	39	80
	Never received a	37	33	70
	referral			
	Childcare or caring	20	19	39
Psychiatry	for sick/disabled			
	loved ones			
	Transportation	1	1	2
	reasons			
	I felt that I did not	122	95	217
	need to			

 Table 4 Barriers to Psychological Interventions

	Other personal	14	11	25
	reason			
	Multiple barriers	52	61	103
	chosen			
	Time Constraints	43	42	85
	Financial Reasons	21	22	43
	Lack of local support	79	71	150
	group available			
	Childcare or caring	22	26	48
	for sick/disabled			
	loved ones			
In-person Support Group	Transportation	4	3	7
	reasons			
	I felt that I did not	69	62	131
	need to			
	Other personal	24	15	39
	reason			
	Multiple barriers	33	51	84
	chosen			
	Time Constraints	32	29	61
	Financial Reasons	16	15	31
	Lack of support	73	58	131
	group available			
	Childcare or caring	15	12	27
	for sick/disabled			
Online Support Group	loved ones			
	Transportation	2	2	4
	reasons			
	I felt that I did not	68	65	133
	need to			
	Other personal	24	20	44
	reason			
	Multiple barriers	34	38	72
	chosen			

Figure 3: Frequency of barriers selected for not utilizing psychological resources. A) The frequency at which each barrier to accessing psychotherapy and psychiatry was chosen. B) The frequency at which each barrier to accessing in-person and online support groups was chosen



Intervention	Theme	Quotation
	Other Support	1. Seen my preacher
	Available	2. I had family to talk to.
	Emotionally	1. Was still trying to process everything and wasn't
	Overwhelmed	emotionally prepared to be attentive to my needs.
		2. Overwhelmed with diagnosis and formulating a plan
	Lack of	1. COVID-19
	resource	2. Stationed overseas, was not an option
Psychotherapy	availability	3. Lack of specialists. Long waiting lists.
(Mental Health	Personal	1. It never crossed my mind; I was focused on getting
Counseling)	focus was not	a care team set up for my son.
	on self-care	2. I had to choose between therapy for myself, or
		supportive therapies for my son. I chose my son's
		therapies.
		3. I felt it wouldn't help since curing DMD was the
		answer
		4. Younger siblings to care for.
	Stigma	1. Negative impact on employment
	Other Support	1. Had a strong faith support system
	Available	2. I would pray a lot and God would help me.
		3. Seen my preacher
	A 1.	4. I saw a counselor and that helped.
	Alternate	1. Antidepressants are available via primary MD not
	access	psych.
		2. I was prescribed medication by my primary care 2. Want to see PCD instead
		A Received prescription from primary care physician
	Lack of	1 COVID 10
		 COVID-19 Psychiatrists are so hard to see. They're always
Psychiatry	availability	booked so long out
i sycilladi y	<i>availability</i>	3. Lack of specialists. Long waiting lists.
		4. It's too hard to get booked in a timely manner with
		one.
	Past bad	1. I only saw a psychiatrist in my teen years, and she
	experience	misdiagnosed me and gave me drugs I was allergic
	· ·	to which I stopped after a few days. I have never
		seen a psychiatrist since.
	Personal	1. It never crossed my mind; I was focused on getting
	focus not on	a care team set up for my son.
	self-care	
	Stigma	1. Negative impact on employment

Table 5 Thematic A	nalvsis of "Othe	er personal reason'	' responses
Lubic & Lubic / L	narysis or othe	i personal reason	responses

		2	
		<i>Z</i> .	I did not need addicted to antianxiety medicine.
	Pandemic	1.	Pandemic limited in-person meetings.
	(COVID-19)	2.	Coronavirus
		3.	Covid-19
		4.	Covid and time constraints
	Other Support	1.	Seen my preacher
	Available	2.	I attend support groups, none related to DMD
	Lack of	1.	There are no group therapy's available specifically
	resource		for Duchenne
	availability	2.	Difficult to access
		3.	I attend support groups. None related to DMD
			because there are none.
	Lack of	1.	Was unaware of resources
	resource	2.	Didn't know how to access relevant group
	information	3.	Didn't know where to look
	Overwhelmed	1.	I wasn't ready to hear other parents' stories. I
	emotionally		needed to come to grips with the diagnosis on my
	5		own first as I had just recently become engaged.
			and my children were dealing with issues regarding
			their father's (former husband) behavior toward
			them.
_		2.	I wasn't ready to hear more about the disease at the
In-person			time of diagnosis
Support Group		3	Denial
		۵. ۵	I feel it would raise my anxiety level
		5	Without a diagnosis I did not think a support group
		5.	existed Just after diagnosis we were too busy
			coping to look for a group, but we did get a call
			from a PPMD rep, so we talked one on one by
			phone and then our family attended a PDMD
			conference about a year after dy
	Dorgonal	1	Not anough time in my schedule to dedicate to an
	focus not on	1.	in person support group. I need flexibility since I
	solf core		am coving for my con
	sen-care	2	Other shildren I needed to some for
		2. 2	DMD nonents need better treatments and on a sure
		з.	DWD parents need better treatments and or a cure
		1	
	Past	1.	Did not feel like it helped. Other people in the
	Experience	•	group were in worse mental shape then I was.
	was not	2.	the one we did attend was not helpful, too
	helpful	~	depressing
		3.	I also don't feel most people can relate. And I
		-	don't tit into most of the DMD mom groups.
0.11. ~	Miscellaneous	1.	Not interested
Online Support	Other Support	1.	Seen my preacher
Group	Available	2.	Only chat boards available

Lack of	1.	There was no group for us parents to attend. I
resource	_	asked.
availability	2.	Wasn't available
Lack of	1.	Online? I was unaware of the internet and social
resource		media was barely invented!
information	2.	Didn't know where to look
	3.	was unaware of resources
	4.	I have not found or searched for online DMD
		support group.
Overwhelmed	1.	I wasn't ready
emotionally	2.	I wasn't sure what to do during that time. I felt
		numb during my son's diagnosis.
	3.	Denial
	4.	I wasn't ready to hear more about the disease at the
		time of diagnosis.
	5.	I feel it would raise my anxiety level
	6.	I wasn't ready to hear other parents' stories. I
		needed to come to grips with the diagnosis on my
		own first as I had just recently become engaged,
		and my children were dealing with issues regarding
		their father's (former husband) behavior toward
		them.
	7.	I'm afraid it would be too overwhelming for me.
Past	1.	Too difficult seeing my future with the disease.
Experience		Most parents had children further along than my
was not		son
helpful	2.	I feel I don't fit in, although the chat on FB has
		been helpful on criticism with the terrible help we
		get from MDA. I don't feel crazy/alone on this
	3.	DMD online support groups are helpful with
		feelings of not being alone BUT continued &
		severe feelings of grief for other people's DMD
		son's compounds things needlessly
	4.	don't like online support
	5.	I also don't feel most people can relate. And I
		don't fit into most of the DMD mom groups.
Miscellaneous	1.	not really interested
	2.	Not interested in online group
	3.	Child's doctor recommended not utilizing online
		resources.
	4.	Support groups too far away to attend

DMD: Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Mental Health Screening

This is not the first study examining rates of depression or anxiety in parents of individuals with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. For our study it was not one of the main goals to capture the level of depression or anxiety symptoms in parents of individuals with DMD, but to use the information to provide context to the patterns discovered for the utilization of and barriers to psychological interventions. Miller, 1990 demonstrated that the most stressful periods for parents and families of individuals with Duchene Muscular Dystrophy are the time of diagnosis, loss of ambulation, adolescence, and end stages of the condition, therefore we asked participants to think about those time periods when they answered mental health screening questions.² Figure 2A shows the percentage of participants that experienced varying degrees of depression symptoms during the diagnosis and disease progression stage. During the diagnosis stage 94.78% of participants experienced some degree of depression symptoms. During the disease progression stage 91.63% of participants experienced some degree of depression symptoms. Previous studies have reported that 50-80% of parents of individuals with DMD experience depression symptoms.^{3,186-187,196} Magliano 2014 found that parents of individuals with DMD reported that they felt depressed or cried sometimes, often, or always.¹⁸⁶ In addition, Landfeldt 2016 found that 50% of parents of individuals with DMD were moderately or extremely depressed.¹⁸⁷ Our results trended higher when comparing our results for overall depression symptoms to the results of those studies. However, our results were lower compared to previous studies for moderate to severe depression (42.6% during diagnosis and 23.26% for disease progression). This leads to the conclusion that parents do experience some form of depression, most often in the minimal to mild range, but not on the severe end.

In terms of anxiety, Figure 2B revealed that 94.78% and 93.95% experienced varying degrees of anxiety during the diagnosis and disease progression stage, respectively. Previous studies have reported that parents of individuals with DMD experience 21-50% of anxiety symptoms^{3,185,187}. Again, Landfeldt 2016 reported that 50% of parents of individuals with DMD were moderately or extremely anxious.¹⁸⁷ Our study found that 58.26% and 34.41% experienced moderate to severe anxiety during the diagnosis stage and disease progression stage respectively. Our results reported higher anxiety prevalence overall and higher moderate to severe anxiety, but only during the diagnosis stage. Based on these results it can be concluded that the participating parents experienced a high level of anxiety, especially more severe anxiety during the diagnosis stage. Overall, there was a higher prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms found during the diagnosis stage compared to the disease progression stage. An explanation for this phenomenon could be that within the time after the diagnosis, parents are allowed space to grieve and cope thus reducing the intensity of mental health symptoms. This would result in the lower scores on the PHQ-9 and GAD-7.

3.4.2 Utilization of Psychological Interventions

To our knowledge this is the first study to examine the utilization rates of psychological interventions specifically for parents in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community. Due to this our study will compare psychological interventions, such as psychotherapy, psychiatry, and both in-person or online support groups, to broader target populations across the world. As seen in Table 3, for each psychological intervention there was underutilization during both the diagnosis

stage and disease progression based on the levels of depression and anxiety reported by the respondents. This is consistent with many studies worldwide that have reported underutilization of mental health services and high levels of mental health concerns that remain untreated.^{311,313,347-348} The World Health Organization (WHO) world mental health survey found that 35.5-50.3% of mental health cases in developed countries and 76.3-85.4% of mental health cases in less-developed countries are not receiving treatment.³¹³ Wang et al., 2005 reported that 41.1% of individuals in the United States received some type of psychological treatment.³¹¹ Our study's findings fall within the limits or below the results of previous studies. During the diagnosis stage the majority of participants did not utilize psychotherapy (67.4%), psychiatry (85.7%), in-person support groups (77.8%), or online support groups (78.3%). The same occurred for utilization of psychological interventions as the child's condition progresses where parents did not utilize psychotherapy (56.7%), psychiatry (80%), in-person support group (72.6%), or online support groups (67%) (Table 3). This supports the conclusion that parents of individuals with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy underutilize psychological interventions as a whole.

Taking a deeper look at utilization rates, the proportion of individuals who did utilize each intervention was greater during the disease progression stage (20%-43.3%) compared to the diagnosis stage (14.3%-32.6%). This was surprising because there was a higher prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms found during the diagnosis stage compared to the disease progression stage within the mental health screening section of this study. Kerr et al. 2000 showed that the need for support typically lessens a few years after the diagnosis stage.¹⁶⁹ However, it is also recognized that the stages of grief are not linear and there is always a possibility to trigger any stage within the grief model as new life challenges emerge.¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵² The concept of chronic sorrow could also apply, thus introducing a chronic need for psychological interventions to be

implemented at any point.¹⁶² This means that there is always a possibility of parents needing some type of psychological intervention due to the life-limiting nature of their child's condition. Healthcare providers should be aware of these patterns so that psychological interventions are offered or discussed not only during the diagnosis stage of the parents' child's DMD, but also as the condition progresses.

In addition, our study found that the intervention with the greatest proportion of participants utilizing it was psychotherapy (32.6%-43.3%) followed by in-person support groups (22.2%-27.4%), online support groups (21.7%-33%), and psychiatry (14.3%-20%). Numerous studies have shown that individuals experiencing mental health symptoms prefer psychotherapy over psychiatry and if they preferred psychotherapy, they preferred group psychotherapy over individual.^{206,308,316,322-325} Kovess-Masfety et al. 2007 looked at mental health preferences in six European Countries and found that psychotherapy was preferred over psychiatry in Belgium, Germany, and the Netherland while France, Italy, and Spain have higher utilization rates for psychiatry over psychology.³⁵⁰ Mack et al., 2014 discovered that the utilization pattern of psychological services in Germany was highest for psychotherapy, followed by psychiatry, and then self-help groups.³⁴⁷ Other studies found that 18.8%, 17%, and 40-66.4% of individuals had utilized psychiatry, psychotherapy, and attended a support group respectively.^{272,348-349} Our results are consistent with the conclusion that utilization frequency of psychotherapy is greater than psychiatry, but it is surprising that support group utilization was not higher. Reasons for this finding will be discussed further in the next section where we discuss the barriers/reasons participants in this study did not utilize psychological interventions.

3.4.3 Barriers to Psychological Interventions

This study identified a wide variety of barriers and/or reasons that may help to explain the lack of utilizing psychological interventions. There was a mix of attitudinal barriers and structural barriers. For all the psychological interventions the most prevalent reason chosen was the attitudinal barriers "I felt that I did not need to". There could be a few explanations for this phenomenon. The first is that participants truly did not need to use the psychological intervention, however the results of the mental health screening contradict this explanation. The fact that a majority of participants experienced high levels of anxiety suggests that parents could benefit from psychological intervention.

In light of this the other explanation could be the concept of low perceived need along with underlying attitudinal barriers. Numerous studies have found that low perceived need and attitudinal barriers are significant factors in help-seeking behaviors especially for mild to moderate mental health symptoms.^{310,334-337} Many community-based surveys have also shown that a majority of individuals worldwide are unable to recognize mental health conditions.³³⁸⁻³⁴³ In addition, it is important to note that due to this phenomenon, individuals can often deem depression symptoms as life stressors which results in a lack of help-seeking behavior. Jorm, Kelly et al., 2006 found that when individuals mislabel depression symptoms this way that they were more likely to believe that the issue could be dealt with without psychological interventions.³⁴⁴ The combination of low perceived need and low mental health literacy makes a compelling case for why this choice was most prevalent. It is also important to keep in mind that participants could choose multiple barriers, so there were instances where other barriers were chosen along with "I felt that I did not need to". This indicates that the reason for not utilizing psychological interventions is more complex than just a single barrier.

The second major barrier was the fact that there was a lack of support groups available. This finding is more structural in nature and represents a significant unmet need for parents of individuals with DMD. While creating a local in-person support group sounds like a simple solution, the process of developing a support group takes a time commitment not only from physicians and clinicians involved, but the families as well. It would also require resources that neuromuscular clinics might not have. Advocacy groups such as the Muscular Dystrophy Association does have community events, but not a formal support group available. Advocacy groups, neuromuscular clinics, and parents in the community would need to work together if an in-person support group in local areas is desired. Online support groups might be a better solution. There are probably numerous online support groups, but individuals may not know where to look or what organizations are credible. This is where clinicians involved in the care of an individual with DMD should guide parents to credible advocacy groups. In addition, since the use of teleconferencing has increased due to the pandemic (COVID-19), advocacy groups could find creative ways to use the technology for face-to-face support.

The third most common barrier was time constraints. This finding was not a surprise given the fact that previous studies have reported that parents have reported a lack of time to perform daily activities or hobbies.^{185-187,270} With the lack of time to be physically present at the psychological intervention, parents in this community might find that telemedicine or a support group that meets virtually would be helpful. Financial barriers do not seem to be a major concern with this cohort, but this is not surprising given that a majority of our cohort has a household income of over \$100,000 (Table 1), however financial barriers still made the top three barriers for psychotherapy and psychiatry. Previous studies have shown financial barriers to be among the top structural barriers for psychotherapy and psychiatry and being in a low socioeconomic area can exacerbate this barrier to an even greater extent.^{5,309,311} Financial barriers could also occur due to varying insurance coverage. Having high insurance coverage from the Affordable Care Act or being a part of a health maintenance organization (HMO) leads to better access to mental health services, in this case psychotherapy and psychiatry.³⁰²⁻³⁰⁷ Support groups are generally free of charge; therefore, it is reasonable for the frequency of financial barriers for support groups to be low.

The fourth major barrier for psychotherapy and psychiatry was that participants had never received a referral. It is known that parents of children with DMD are more likely to experience psychological distress than parents who do not have a child with DMD, therefore they should be linked to appropriate psychological interventions⁴. Mandell et al., 2007 found that parents were more likely to attend support groups if the clinician who diagnosed their child referred them to one, highlighting the importance of counseling by the clinician on support options.³⁴⁹ Previous studies have shown that physicians fail to recognize symptoms in order to make a referral for treatment for 30 to 50% of individuals with mental health concerns.³²⁹⁻³³² Even when physicians refer individuals for mental health treatment, only 20% of them follow through utilizing the intervention.³¹⁶⁻³¹⁷ These numbers could be even lower for parents in the DMD community since their child is typically the focus of the doctor's appointment. In the study conducted by Saetrang et al. 2019, one parent described how the sorrow comes on suddenly causing immense exhaustion and feeling alone in grief.²⁰¹ This parent recognized that both the child and the parent themselves should receive referrals for mental health treatment to deal with the life-limiting aspect of their child's condition as it progresses, but they did not feel that they were in a position to bring up the concerns during their child's medical appointment. Therefore, even if there is a structural barrier there is a chance of an attitudinal barrier occurring that could affect utilization rates.

Lastly, Table 5 shows similar qualitative themes under the quantitative selection of "Other personal reason". Having other support available or alternative access was a common theme across all psychological interventions. Some studies have shown that parents of individuals with chronic illness or disabilities can adapt well due to family support, religious support, primary care treatment of depression, and other resources.³⁴⁵⁻³⁴⁶ Yamaguchi et al., 2019 found that parents want a support person but preferred family, friend, or spouse over a psychological counselor.³³³ The qualitative results found similar reasons to these studies. These reasons were mentioned within the selection of "Other personal reason" which was the least frequently selected barrier. Therefore, these findings represent the small portion of individuals who do well adapting without psychological interventions. Other common themes were the effects of the pandemic (COVID-19), parents focus not on self-care, past experiences not being helpful, and being emotionally overwhelmed. It is important to note that the pandemic during the year 2020 to the present has affected the availability of mental health services and ability to access those services due to social distancing and the presence of lockdowns. Therefore, it was not surprising that the effects of the pandemic appeared in the survey results. The themes of being emotionally overwhelmed and the personal focus not being on self-care give further evidence for the underutilization of psychological interventions. It shows that although a majority of parents experience psychological distress it is possible that some parents perceive using resources such as supports groups could increase their distress. Overall, the qualitative results provide details that highlight barriers not available to be selected for a small portion of participants.

3.4.4 Generalizability of Results, Limitations, and Future Research

With the demographics of this study's cohort, there is some generalizability under the assumption that the participants share a similar, if not identical, identification of their race/ethnicity with their child who has DMD. A majority of this cohort identifies as White (84.3%) followed by Hispanic or Latino (10%), Asian (3.9%), Other/Unknown (2.2%), Two or more races/ethnicities (1.7%), Black or African American (0.87%), Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander (0.4%), and American Indian or Alaska Native (0.4%) (Table 1). A previous cross-sectional study examining prevalence of DMD in the United States of America between 1991–1995, 1996–2000, 2001–2005, and 2006–2010 across various races/ethnicities revealed that prevalence of DMD was highest amongst individuals that identified as Hispanic compared to individuals that identified as non-Hispanic white or black.²⁵ However, a recent study retrospectively looking at cases between 2006-2015 showed that Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy is significantly more prevalent among individuals who identify as non-Hispanic whites compared to other races and ethnicities.³⁵⁸ Our study's participants mainly identified as White, similar to Salzberg's study, but the prevalence of DMD amongst minority populations was lower compared to Salzberg's study.³⁵⁸ This eliminates generalizability due to the lack of racial/ethnic diversity. On the other hand, this cohort is mostly from the United States (96%) and the prevalence data is from research conducted in the United States of America, therefore the results and conclusions from this study have the potential to be generalized to the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community within the United States of America but not across race/ethnicity.

It is important to understand the results of this study in the context of its limitations. The first limitation is that for the mental health screening the prompt is asking about symptoms during a time that might have occurred in the past since a majority of parents (93.5%) did not have a child

who was diagnosed with DMD within the past 12 months. The intensity of mental health symptoms during a stressful period could be different from the reflection of that time period. In addition, those diagnosed with a mental health condition (20%) could be more likely to screen positive for depression or anxiety if their condition is currently not well managed and vice versa if the condition is well managed. The second limitation is that the survey was only available in the English language and was not translated even though recruitment emails were sent to DMD affiliated organizations worldwide. Some advocacy groups such as Parent Project Duchenne in Argentina did aide in distributing the survey to members with English literacy, but not having the survey in their language could have affected a participant's ability to complete or fully comprehend the survey. The third limitation is that this study's cohort was gathered through advocacy groups, indicating that they had some level of support and involvement in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community and were more likely to participate in this study. This can cause voluntary response bias where those who choose to participate are different than those who choose not to participate. This can cause an underrepresentation of individuals who might not feel as strongly regarding the study's subject within the DMD community. Overall, there might be unmet need or identification of barriers within the DMD community that this sample cohort was not able to capture. Our data is one set of information. It is entirely possible that with a larger cohort the results might fluctuate.

Regarding future research there are multiple opportunities to expand on the results from this study. Since the majority of participants were from the United States of America, this study can be repeated in other locations across the world. Having the survey translated and increased recruitment and survey completion strategies may allow more demographic diversity. With the survey being translated into other languages, other countries could participate. The main method for recruitment was through advocacy groups and the survey was to be completed online. Using different recruitment and survey completion strategies would help capture individuals who are not involved with advocacy groups or do not have access to computers.

The survey can also be used as a baseline for expanding this study. Future studies could be done to gather qualitative data to understand the underlying reason for "I feel that I did not need to" response being in the top three reasons for not utilizing psychological interventions. It would be interesting to examine if the qualitative study would produce similar results to the small portion of qualitative data gathered in this study.

Lastly, based on these results future research should examine how public health interventions, such as implementing mental health screenings in the neuromuscular clinic for both parents and children and mental health literacy campaigns, effect utilization rates of psychological interventions. Wells et al. 2000 found that training healthcare workers to routinely screen and discuss mental health treatment improved utilization rates as well as mental health outcomes for patients.³⁵⁷ Individuals who are informed about mental health resources are more inclined to use them.²⁰⁶ These methods could help reduce attitudinal barriers. Ways to improve structural barriers would be to implement a support group or encourage use of telemedicine options for psychotherapy and psychiatry. Numerous studies have shown the effectiveness of telemedicine for mental health.³⁵²⁻³⁵⁶ Even psychotherapy over the telephone could reduce barriers for those who do not have access to the internet. Brenes et al. 2015 found the telephone-delivered cognitive behavior therapy was able to significantly decrease generalized anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms, and worry severity.³⁵¹ Overall, this study has the capability to be the foundation for future research regarding the psychosocial health of families within the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community.
3.5 Conclusion

Overall, there is an underutilization of psychological intervention for parents in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community. The fact that there is underutilization is interesting given the fact that a majority of participants experience varying degrees of depression and anxiety during their child's diagnosis stage and disease progression stage. The percentage of individuals experiencing moderate to severe anxiety was higher than the percentage of individuals experiencing moderate to severe depression. The mental health screening confirms what previous studies have found and counseling on appropriate mental health therapies should occur during the child's neuromuscular clinic appointment.

It was discovered that the underutilization of mental health services was explained by a variety of barriers. Attitudinal barriers dominated over structural barriers for psychotherapy and psychiatry. The high frequency of the attitudinal barrier could be explained by low perceived need or low mental health literacy in the context of the mental health screening results. Physicians involved in the child's multi-disciplinary team should utilize family-centered care and implement mental health screening tools like the ones used in this survey.

For support groups the biggest barrier is the lack of support group availability. This is a need that should be recognized among DMD related organizations now that these results are available. With the effects of the 2020 pandemic, virtual video communication has increased. With new platforms being available because of the pandemic, the DMD organizations have a unique opportunity to attend to this unmet need. Unsurprisingly time constraints, financial constraints, and lack of referrals still play a factor in the underutilization of psychological interventions. In addition, it is important to note that there were instances where more than one barrier was chosen, revealing that there are multiple factors at play that keep parents from utilizing psychological

interventions. The qualitative results provide further variety and complexity to the list of barriers identified. In conclusion, there are unmet needs for parents of individuals in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community reflected in the underutilization of and barriers to psychological interventions. Healthcare providers should counsel parents on a variety of interventions as one intervention does not work for everyone.

4.0 Research Significance to Genetic Counseling and Public Health

The aim of this study was to gain an understanding of the parental psychosocial experience within the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community. Throughout this study the utilization of psychosocial interventions and barriers to those resources were described. The results have the potential to impact how health care providers, such as genetic counselors and physicians, approach clinical care not only for their patients with DMD, but also for the family as a whole. These results are also impactful to public health because they are informative regarding access to psychosocial resources.

There are three core functions of public health: assessment, policy development, and assurance. Assurance comprises of enforcing laws, ensuring a competent workforce, and evaluating effectiveness. This study can fall under the assurance function.³⁵⁹ The elements of assurance this study focuses on are linking individuals to the needed psychological health services and evaluating the accessibility of those resources for the DMD community.

The first essential service "[linking] individuals to needed personal health services and [assuring] the provision of health care when otherwise unavailable" correlates to the second aim of this study.³⁶⁰ It is known that parents of children with DMD are more likely to experience psychological distress than parents who do not have a child with DMD, therefore they should be linked to appropriate psychological interventions⁴. Participants in this study were asked whether they did or did not utilize psychological interventions such as psychotherapy, psychiatry, in-person support groups and online support groups. The results of this study indicate that a majority of participants do not utilize psychological interventions. However, the PHQ-9 screening revealed 94.78% and 91.63% of participants experienced varying degrees of depression symptoms with

42.6% and 23.26% who experienced moderate to severe depression during the diagnosis and disease progression stage, respectively. In addition, GAD-7 results indicated that 94.78% and 93.95% experienced varying degrees of anxiety and 58.26% and 34.41% had moderate to severe anxiety during the diagnosis and disease progression stage, respectively. There is a possibility that parents are not being linked to appropriate health services or that there are other barriers to access psychological resources.

An individual-based health promoting strategy that is relevant to this study and the first essential service includes the principle of multiple methods. The principle of multiple methods is a holistic approach of data collection for formulation of treatment plans and their assessments. It utilizes the biopsychosocial-cultural model which focuses on obtaining multiple perspectives in data collection with both qualitative and quantitative data.³⁶¹ Qualitative measures involve the person providing personal, socioeconomic, cultural, and family history information combined with mental health diagnosis guidelines. Quantitative measures utilize screening tools, self-report, and standard measures. Early research showed that mental health screenings were not effective.³⁶²⁻³⁶³ More recent studies show that the mental health screenings have a high degree of validity, feasibility, and clinical utility to use in tracking treatment outcomes and can be useful to screen the general population.^{326,327,364-368} Furthermore Duff et al., 2005 found that both patients with cystic fibrosis and their parents approve of screening with a majority of them agreeing that the screening has the capability to accurately label their mental health state.³⁶⁹ This principle suggests that family-centered health care approaches to treating chronic illnesses should begin in childhood. Any stressor that affects one or more family members, deemed family stress, could affect a family's dynamic, emotional connection, and the overall well-being of the family as a whole.³⁷⁰ The family-centered approach is to holistically treat not only the patient, but also the family as a whole.³⁷¹ Melnyk et al, 2006 examined the effect of a family-centered approach for parents of children in the neonatal intensive care program and found that those who participated were less stressed than those who did not.³⁷² Implementing this approach or improving the use in the neuromuscular clinic has the potential to attend to the psychological needs of the parents.

The second essential service "evaluate effectiveness, accessibility, and quality of personal and population-based health services" correlates to the third aim of the study.³⁶⁰ If participants reported that they did not utilize a psychological intervention, they were asked to select a reason for not utilizing the intervention. This information informs whether there are barriers to access a particular intervention. The results of this study revealed that there are multiple factors that affect access to psychological interventions. For psychotherapy and psychiatry, the top three reasons selected were that participants did not feel that they needed the intervention, time constraints, and financial constraints (Figure 3A). Participants not receiving a referral was the fourth most selected reason for both psychotherapy and psychiatry. The top three reasons selected for in-person and online support group were a lack of support group available, participants did not feel they needed the intervention, and time constraints (Figure 3B). In addition, a qualitative theme that emerged (Table 5) was that there was a lack of resource availability which could be in part due to the pandemic, COVID-19, which occurred as this study was being conducted. During this pandemic access to in person resources was not readily available because of stay-at-home orders and social distancing rules to protect the public. Stopping the spread of the virus became public health officials' main priority. As the threat of the pandemic starts to subside it will be important for public health officials to assure that these psychological interventions become available again. Interventions such as support groups do require an immense time commitment from physicians

and parents, therefore it is important for public health officials to collaborate with all stakeholders to improve access.

Community-based health promotion strategies relevant to this study and the second essential service include the principle of community participation and principle of empowering local people. The principle of community participation states that community members understand their needs the most and are the most qualified to determine what interventions and solutions their community would benefit from. This principle utilizes the asset-based community development model, which focuses on the strengths and capacity at which the community can participate. In turn the community creates policies and activities based on their skill set and capacities.³⁷³ Qualitative data from this model is collected by performing focus groups (members from a community assembled with a moderator to have a discussion around a few questions) which is used to drive social and political change.³⁷⁴ The principle of empowering local people focuses on empowering communities to take control of factors that have an impact on their mental health and well-being.³⁷⁵ This principle utilizes community health assessment which empowers the community, ensures knowledge regarding mental health literacy is spread throughout the community, and allows members of the community to actively participate in research.³⁷⁶ Interventions that can increase mental health literacy include whole community campaigns through social marketing, mental health first aide training, and web-based seminars/campaigns.³⁷⁷ Furthermore, public health workers and clinicians can gather quantitative and qualitative data that can point out barriers and strengths similar to this study. The results of this study are informative not only to public health departments, but to genetic counselors and other healthcare workers.

As genetic counselors it is an imperative element of the counseling session to address psychosocial elements of the patients and their families as well as provide support resources.³⁷⁸

67

For childhood onset genetic conditions such as DMD not only is the child the patient, but the family as a unit is too. Parents of individuals with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy experience psychological distress during the diagnosis period². This is the timeframe where genetic counselors are most likely to be involved alongside a neurologist in the neuromuscular clinic. In a clinical sense genetic counselors are uniquely qualified to recognize psychological distress and engage with parents on which psychological intervention would best suit their needs in a non-biased way. It is important to be familiar with anxiety and depression symptoms since a majority of participants in this study experienced some form of anxiety or depression. Genetic counselors could even ask probing questions based on questions from the GAD-7 or PHQ-9 to start a dialogue. When engaging in a discussion, genetic counselors should keep in mind that there are multiple barriers that a parent may have, therefore aiding in problem-solving with the parent could prove to be beneficial. In addition, genetic counseling values interdisciplinary relationships. The results of this study encourage genetic counselors to work with their colleagues to recognize psychological distress, provide credible information on the resources available, implement mental health screening measures, and work with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy organizations to develop support groups. This could aid in fulfilling the psychological needs of parents of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy and reduce or prevent the burden of acute mental illness.

Appendix A Institutional Review Board Approval



EXEMPT DETERMINATION

Date:	November 16, 2020
IRB:	STUDY20100066
PI:	Haley Kulas
Title:	Examining parental utilization of and barriers to psychological interventions in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy community
Funding:	None

The Institutional Review Board reviewed and determined the above referenced study meets the regulatory requirements for exempt research under 45 CFR 46.104.

Determination Documentation

Determination Date:	11/16/2020
Exempt Category:	(2)(i) Tests, surveys, interviews, or observation (non-identifiable)
Determinations:	
Approved	 Thesis Survey, Category: Data Collection;
Documents:	 Exempt Application Form, Category: IRB Protocol;
	 Informed Consent for Survey Script, Category: Recruitment Materials;
	 Recruitment Email Script, Category: Recruitment Materials;
	 Recruitment Flyer, Category: Recruitment Materials;

If you have any questions, please contact the University of Pittsburgh IRB Coordinator, Amy Fuhrman.

Please take a moment to complete our <u>Satisfaction Survey</u> as we appreciate your feedback.

Human Research Protection Office 3500 Fifth Avenue, Suite 106 Pittsburgh, PA 15213 www.hrpo.pitt.edu

Appendix B Informed Consent for Survey

Thank you for considering to participate in this survey. This research project is being conducted by Haley Kulas in fulfillment of a master's degree in Genetic Counseling at the University of Pittsburgh.

In this research project, we hope to learn about the experience of parents/guardians of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD). Specifically, what psychological support resources they have attended or currently attend, including mental health counseling, psychiatry, and support groups. Additionally, we hope to learn of specific barriers that parents/guardians experience, which might prevent access to those psychological support resources. If you decide to participate, you will be asked to complete an online survey containing approximately 40 questions about your mental health experience throughout your child's diagnosis and condition progression, psychological support usage, barriers to those resources, and demographic background. This survey is expected to take 10-15 minutes to complete.

Your participation is entirely voluntary, and you may discontinue at any point. You may decline to answer any question. This survey is anonymous which means that the answers from this survey will not be connected to your name or any other identifying information.

There are no risks to you for your participation in this study, except for the potential emotional distress as you reflect on your experience throughout your child's diagnosis of DMD and the condition's progression. Should you experience any adverse reactions while participating in this survey, you may notify the principal investigator, who can put you in contact with a mental health professional. It is possible that you may not directly benefit by participating in this survey; however, the results from this survey may improve the psychosocial component of genetic counseling of future patients whose child is being diagnosed with DMD.

This study is approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Review Board. If you have any questions or concerns, you may contact me, Haley Kulas (hmk29@pitt.edu), or my faculty chair, Deanna Steele, MS, LCGC (deanna.steele@chp.edu). Any questions about your rights as a research subject or if you wish to talk to someone other than the research team, please contact the University of Pittsburgh Human Subjects Protection Advocate toll-free at 866-212-2688.

If you know of any parents/guardians who have a child/children diagnosed with DMD that you believe would be willing to complete this online survey, please forward this survey link to them

-Yes, I consent to participate[Begin Survey

-No, I decline to participate [Exit Survey]

Appendix C Survey



Thank you for considering to participate in this survey. This research project is being conducted by Haley Kulas in fulfillment of a master's degree in Genetic Counseling at the University of Pittsburgh.

In this research project, we hope to learn about the experience of parents/guardians of children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD). Specifically, what psychological support resources they have attended or currently attend, including mental health counseling, psychiatry, and support groups. Additionally, we hope to learn of specific barriers that parents/guardians experience, which might prevent access to those psychological support resources. If you decide to participate, you will be asked to complete an online survey containing approximately 40 questions about your mental health experience throughout your child's diagnosis and condition progression, psychological support usage, barriers to those resources, and demographic background. This survey is expected to take 10-15 minutes to complete.

Your participation is entirely voluntary, and you may discontinue at any point. You may decline to answer any question. This survey is anonymous which means that the answers from this survey will not be connected to your name or any other identifying information.

There are no risks to you for your participation in this study, except for the potential emotional distress as you reflect on your experience throughout your child's diagnosis of DMD and the condition's progression. Should you experience any adverse reactions while participating in this survey, you may notify the principal investigator, who can put you in contact with a mental health professional. It is possible that you may not directly benefit by participating in this survey; however, the results from this survey may improve the psychosocial component of genetic counseling of future patients whose child is being diagnosed with DMD.

71

This study is approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Review Board. If you have any questions or concerns, you may contact me, Haley Kulas (hmk29@pitt.edu), or my faculty chair, Deanna Steele, MS, LCGC (deanna.steele@chp.edu). Any questions about your rights as a research subject or if you wish to talk to someone other than the research team, please contact the University of Pittsburgh Human Subjects Protection Advocate toll-free at 866-212-2688.

If you know of any parents/guardians who have a child/children diagnosed with DMD that you believe would be willing to complete this online survey, please forward this survey link to them

Yes, I consent to participate [Begin Survey]

No, I decline to participate [Exit Survey]



List of terms used throughout the survey

Mental Health Counseling-a way to help people with a broad variety of mental health conditions and emotional difficulties involving a talking relationship between therapist and patient. Problems helped by mental health counseling, also called "talk therapy" include difficulties in coping; the impact of trauma, medical illness, or loss of a loved one; and mental health conditions such as anxiety or depression.

Psychiatry-department of medicine that focuses on diagnosing, treating, and preventing mental, emotional, and behavioral conditions. A psychiatrist is a medical doctor who specializes in mental health and assesses both the mental and physical aspects of mental health conditions. Individuals see a psychiatrist for various reasons including panic attacks, feelings of sadness, hopelessness, or anxiousness that never seem to lift, or feeling distorted or out of control. Psychiatrists use numerous treatments such as psychotherapy and medication.





How many children do you have? Please include both living and deceased children.

None	
1	
2-4	
More than 4	

How many children do you have who have been diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy? Please include both living and deceased children.

None		
1		
2		
3 or more		
3 01 11016		



How many children did you have <u>before</u> having your child who was diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy?

None		
1		
2		
3 or more		

Has your child been diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy within the past 12 months?

Yes

How old were you when your oldest child with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy was born?

Under 18 years 18-24 years 25-34 years 35-44 years 45-54 years Over 55 years



Before you had your child who was diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy, had you ever been diagnosed with a mental health condition?

Yes

←

No



 \rightarrow



Before you had your child who was diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy, did you ever attend mental health counseling?

Yes				
No				

Before you had your child who was diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy, did you ever see a psychiatrist?

Yes			
No			





Please read each statement and choose 0,1,2 or 3 which indicates how much that statement applies to you during the time that your child was diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy.

Do not spend too much time on any one statement. This assessment is not intended to be a diagnosis. If you are concerned in any way, please speak with a qualified health professional.

	0 (Not at all)	1 (Several days per month)	2 (More than half the days per month)	3 (Nearly every day per month)
Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge	0	0	0	0
Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	0	0	0
Worrying too much about different things	0	0	0	0
Trouble relaxing	0	0	0	0
Being so restless that it is hard to sit still	0	0	0	0
Becoming easily annoyed or irritable	0	0	0	0
Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen	0	0	0	0

~			

 \rightarrow

Please Answer the following to the best of your ability

Please read each statement and choose 0,1,2 or 3 which indicates how much that statement applies to you during the time that your child was diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy.

Do not spend too much time on any one statement. This assessment is not intended to be a diagnosis. If you are concerned in any way, please speak with a qualified health professional.

	0 (Not at all)	1 (Several days per month)	2 (More than half the days per month)	3 (Nearly every day per month)
Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	0	0	0
Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	0	0	0
Feeling tired or having little energy	0	0	0	0
Poor appetite or overeating	0	0	0	0
Feeling bad about yourself, feeling that you are a failure, or have let yourself or your family down	0	0	0	0
Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading or watching TV	0	0	0	0
Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite- being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual	0	0	0	0
Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself. National Suicide Prevention Hotiline: 1-800-273-8255	0	0	0	0

If you selected anything other than 0 for the statements in the previous question, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?

Not difficult at all
Somewhat difficult
Very difficult
Extremely difficult
Not applicable







During the **time of your child's diagnosis** of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy did you ever see a mental health counselor?

Yes			
No			

During the **time of your child's diagnosis** of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy did you ever see a psychiatrist?

Yes

No

During the **time of your child's diagnosis** of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy did you ever attend an inperson support group?

Yes			
No			

During the **time of your child's diagnosis** of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy did you ever attend an online support group?

Yes		
No		



 \rightarrow

If you did not see a mental health counselor **during the time of your child's diagnosis of DMD**, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Never received a referral

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I felt that I did not need to

If you did not see a psychiatrist during the **time of your child's diagnosis of DMD**, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Never received a referral

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I felt that I did not need to

If you did not attend an in-person support group **during the time of your child's diagnosis of DMD**, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Lack of local support group available

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I did not feel that I needed to

If you did not attend an online support group **during the time of your child's diagnosis of DMD**, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Lack of support group available

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I did not feel that I needed to

Please Answer the following to the best of your ability

Please read each statement and choose 0,1,2 or 3 which indicates how much that statement applies 1 you as of your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has progressed over the years.

Do not spend too much time on any one statement. This assessment is not intended to be a diagnosi: If you are concerned in any way, please speak with a qualified health professional.

	0 (Not at all)	1 (Several days per month)	2 (More than half the days per month)	3 (Nearly every day per month)
Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge	0	0	0	0
Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	0	0	0
Worrying too much about different things	0	0	0	0
Trouble relaxing	0	0	0	0
Being so restless that it is hard to sit still	0	0	0	0
Becoming easily annoyed or irritable	0	0	0	0
Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen	0	0	0	0

Please Answer the following to the best of your ability Please read each statement and choose 0,1,2 or 3 which indicates how much that statement applies to you as your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has progressed over the years.

Do not spend too much time on any one statement. This assessment is not intended to be a diagnosis. If you are concerned in any way, please speak with a qualified health professional.

	0 (Not at all)	1 (Several days per month)	2 (More than half the days per month)	3 (Nearly every day per month)
Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	0	0	0
Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	0	0	0
Feeling tired or having little energy	0	0	0	0
Poor appetite or overeating	0	0	0	0
Feeling bad about yourself, feeling that you are a failure, or have let yourself or your family down	0	0	0	0
Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading or watching TV	0	0	0	0
Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite- being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual	0	0	O	O
Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself National Suicide Prevention Hotline: 1-800-273-8255	0	o	0	O

If you selected anything other than 0 for the statements in the previous question, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?

Not difficult at all	
Somewhat difficult	
Very difficult	
Extremely difficult	
Not applicable	



As your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has **progressed over the years** did you ever see a mental health counselor?

Yes

No

As your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has **progressed over the years** did you ever see a psychiatrist?

Yes

No

As your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has **progressed over the years** did you ever attend an in-person support group?

Yes			
No			

As your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has **progressed over the years** did you ever attend an online support group?

Yes			
No			



 \rightarrow

If you have not seen a psychiatrist, as your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has progressed over the years, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Never received a referral

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I felt that I did not need to

If you have not seen a mental health counselor, **as your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has progressed over the years**, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Never received a referral

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I felt that I did not need to

If you have not attended an in-person support group, **as your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has progressed over the years**, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Lack of local support group available

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I did not feel that I needed to

If you have not attended an online support group, **as your child's Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy has progressed over the years**, please select the following reasons that might have prevented you from doing so. (select all that apply)

Time constraints

Financial reasons

Lack of local support group available

Childcare or caring for sick/disabled loved ones

Transportation reasons

I did not feel that I needed to

What gender do you identify with?

Male

Female

Non-binary / third gender

Other

Prefer not to say

What is your age group?

18-24 years

25-34 years

35-44 years

45-54 years

Over 55 years

What race/ethnicity do you identify with? Choose all that apply

White

Black or African American

American Indian or Alaska Native

Asian

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander

Hispanic or Latino

Native American

Two or More

Other/unknown

What is your religious affiliation?

Protestant
Catholic
Mormon
Jewish
Buddhist
Hindu
Muslim
No religious affiliation
Prefer not to say
Other/ Unknown

What Country do you live in?

\$

If you live in the United States, what state do you live in?

(______ A

What is your current marital status?

Single- never married

Married

In a domestic partnership

Divorced

Divorced and remarried

Widowed
What is the highest level of education you completed?

High School or less

Some College

Bachelor's degree

Master's degree or higher

What is your current household income in U.S. dollars? This is the income from all the adults who live in your home.

Less than \$20,000 \$20,000-\$34,999 \$35,000-\$49,999 \$50,000-\$74,999 \$75,000-\$99,999

Appendix D Advertisement for Survey Participation



Bibliography

- Darras BT, Urion DK, Ghosh PS. Dystrophinopathies. 2000 Sep 5 [Updated 2018 Apr 26]. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, et al., editors. GeneReviews® [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993-2020.
- Miller, J. R. (1990). "Family response to Duchenne muscular dystrophy." Loss, Grief & Care 4(3-4): 31-42.
- Thompson, R.J., Jr., Zeman, J.L., Fanurik, D. and Sirotkin-roses, M. (1992), The role of parent stress and coping and family functioning in parent and child adjustment to Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. J. Clin. Psychol., 48: 11-19.
- Daoud, M., Dooley, J., & Gordon, K. (2004). Depression In Parents of Children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Pediatric Neurology*, 31(1), 16-19.
- 5. Mohr, David C et al. "Barriers to Psychotherapy Among Depressed and Nondepressed Primary Care Patients." *Annals of behavioral medicine* 32.3 (2006): 254–258. Web.
- Danieli GA, Mostacciuolo ML, Bonfante A, Angelini C. Duchenne muscular dystrophy a population study. Hum Genet. 1977;35(2):225–31
- Monckton G, Hoskin V, Warren S. Prevalence and incidence of muscular dystrophy in Alberta, Canada. Clin Genet. 2008;21(1):19–24.
- Leth A, Wulff K, Corfitsen M, Elmgreen J. Progressive muscular dystrophy in Denmark. Acta Paediatr. 1985;74(6):881–5.
- 9. Radhakrishnan K, El-Mangoush MA, Gerryo SE. Descriptive epidemiology of selected neuromuscular disorders in Benghazi, Libya. Acta Neurol Scand. 1987;75(2):95–100.
- Nakagawa M, Nakahara K, Yoshidome H, Suehara M, Higuchi I, Fujiyama J, et al. Epidemiology of progressive muscular dystrophy in Okinawa, Japan. Neuroepidemiology. 1991;10(4):185–91.
- van Essen AJ, Busch HFM, te Meerman GJ, ten Kate LP. Birth and population prevalence of Duchenne muscular dystrophy in the Netherlands. Hum Genet. 1992;88(3):258–66.

- Ahlström G, Gunnarsson LG, Leissner P, Sjödén PO. Epidemiology of neuromuscular diseases, including the postpolio sequelae, in a Swedish county. Neuroepidemiology. 1993;12(5):262–9.
- Ballo R, Viljoen D, Beighton P. Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy prevalence in South Africa and molecular findings in 128 persons affected. S Afr Med J. 1994;84(8 Pt 1):494–7.
- Hughes MI, Hicks EM, Nevin NC, Patterson VH. The prevalence of inherited neuromuscular disease in Northern Ireland. Neuromuscul Disord. 1996;6(1):69–73.
- 15. Peterlin B, Zidar J, Meznarič-Petruša M, Zupančič N. Genetic epidemiology of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy in Slovenia. Clin Genet. 1997;51(2):94–7.
- 16. Siciliano G, Tessa A, Renna M, Manca ML, Mancuso M, Murri L. Epidemiology of dystrophinopathies in North-West Tuscany: a molecular genetics-based revisitation. Clin Genet. 1999;56(1):51–8.
- 17. Darin N, Tulinius M. Neuromuscular disorders in childhood: a descriptive epidemiological study from western Sweden. Neuromuscul Disord. 2000;10(1):1–9.
- 18. Jeppesen J, Green A, Steffensen BF, Rahbek J. The Duchenne muscular dystrophy population in Denmark, 1977-2001: Prevalence, incidence, and survival in relation to the introduction of ventilator use. Neuromuscul Disord. 2003;13(10):804–12.
- 19. Chung B, Wong V, Ip P. Prevalence of neuromuscular diseases in Chinese children: a study in Southern China. J Child Neurol. 2003;18(3):217–9.
- 20. Talkop UA, Kahre T, Napa A, Talvik I, Sööt A, Piirsoo A, et al. A descriptive epidemiological study of Duchenne muscular dystrophy in childhood in Estonia. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2003;7(5):221–6.
- 21. El-Tallawy HN, Khedr EM, Qayed MH, Helliwell TR, Kamel NF. Epidemiological study of muscular disorders in Assiut, Egypt. Neuroepidemiology. 2005;25(4):205–11.
- 22. Norwood FLM, Harling C, Chinnery PF, Eagle M, Bushby K, Straub V. Prevalence of genetic muscle disease in northern England: in-depth analysis of a muscle clinic population. Brain. 2009;132(11):3175–86.
- 23. Mah J, Selby K, Campbell C, Nadeau A, Tarnopolsky M, McCormick A, et al. A population-based study of dystrophin mutations in Canada. Can J Neurol Sci. 2011;38(3):465–74.

- 24. Rasmussen M, Risberg K, Vøllo A, Skjeldal OH. Neuromuscular disorders in children in south-eastern Norway. J Pediatr Neurol. 2012;10(2):95–100.
- 25. Romitti PA, Zhu Y, Puzhankara S, James KA, Nabukera SK, Zamba GKD, et al. Prevalence of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies in the United States. Pediatrics. 2015;135(3):513–21.
- 26. Ramos E, Conde JG, Berrios RA, Pardo S, Gómez O, Mas Rodríguez MF. Prevalence and genetic profile of Duchene and Becker muscular dystrophy in Puerto Rico. J Neuromuscul Dis. 2016;3(2):261–6.
- 27. Lefter S, Hardiman O, Ryan AM. A population-based epidemiologic study of adult neuromuscular disease in the Republic of Ireland. Neurology. 2017;88(3):304–13.
- 28. Monaco AP, Bertelson CJ, Colletti-Feener C, et al. Localization and cloning of Xp21 deletion breakpoints involved in muscular dystrophy. Hum Genet 1987; 75:221-7.
- 29. Koenig M, Beggs AH, Moyer M, Scherpf S, Heindrich K, Bettecken T, et al. The molecular basis for Duchenne versus Becker muscular dystrophy: correlation of severity with type of deletion. *Am J Hum Genet* 1989; **45**:498–506.
- 30. American Academy of Pediatrics Section on Cardiology and Cardiac Surgery. Clinical Report: cardiovascular health supervision for individuals affected by Duchenne or Becker muscular dystrophy. Pediatrics. 2005; 116:1569–73.
- 31. Liang WC, Wang CH, Chou PC, Chen WZ, Jong YJ. The natural history of the patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy in Taiwan: A medical center experience. Pediatr Neonatol. 2018 Apr;59(2):176-183. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2017.02.004. Epub 2017 Aug 25. PMID: 28903883.
- 32. D'Amico A, Catteruccia M, Baranello G, Politano L, Govoni A, Previtali SC, Pane M, D'Angelo MG, Bruno C, Messina S, Ricci F, Pegoraro E, Pini A, Berardinelli A, Gorni K, Battini R, Vita G, Trucco F, Scutifero M, Petillo R, D'Ambrosio P, Ardissone A, Pasanisi B, Vita G, Mongini T, Moggio M, Comi GP, Mercuri E, Bertini E. Diagnosis of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy in Italy in the last decade: Critical issues and areas for improvements. Neuromuscul Disord. 2017 May;27(5):447-451.
- Zalaudek I, Bonelli RM, Koltringer P, Reisecker F, Wagner K. Early diagnosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Lancet. 1999; 353:1975.

- Marshall PD, Galasko CS. No improvement in delay in diagnosis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy [letter]. *Lancet* 1995;345 (8949):590-1.
- 35. Li QX, Yang H, Zhang N, Xiao B, Bi FF, Li J. Zhongguo Dang Dai Er Ke Za Zhi. 2012; 14:746–50. [Clinical and pathological features of 50 children with Duchenne's muscular dystrophy].
- 36. Gowers WR. Clinical lecture on pseudo-hypertrophic muscular paralysis. Lancet. 1879;
 2:1–2, 37–39, 73–75, 113–116. Pearce JM. Gowers' sign. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2000; 68:149.
- 37. Griggs RC, Mendell JR, Miller RG. *Evaluation and Treatment of Myopathies*.Philadelphia: F.A. Davis Company; 1995.
- Darras, Basil T et al. Neuromuscular Disorders of Infancy, Childhood, and Adolescence: A Clinician's Approach. San Diego: Elsevier Science & Technology, 2014. Print.
- Passamano, Luigia et al. "Improvement of Survival in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy: Retrospective Analysis of 835 Patients." *Acta myologica* 31.2 (2012): 121–125.
- 40. Saito T, Tatara K, Kawai M. [Changes in clinical condition and causes of death of inpatients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy in Japan from 1999 to 2012]. Rinsho Shinkeigaku. 2014;54(10):783-90.
- 41. Eagle, Michelle et al. "Survival in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy: Improvements in Life Expectancy Since 1967 and the Impact of Home Nocturnal Ventilation." *Neuromuscular disorders: NMD* 12.10 (2002): 926–929.
- Rall S, Grimm T. Survival in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Acta Myol.* 2012;31(2):117-120.
- 43. Kohler, M et al. "Disability and Survival in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy." *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 80.3 (2009): 320–325.
- 44. Mendell JR, Sahenk Z, Lehman K, et al. Assessment of safety of systemic delivery of rAAVrh74.MHCK7. micro-dystrophin in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a clinical trial. JAMA Neurol. 2019.
- 45. Le Guiner, C., Servais, L., Montus, M. *et al.* Long-term microdystrophin gene therapy is effective in a canine model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Nat Commun* 8, 16105 (2017).

- 46. Koenig M, Hoffman EP, Bertelson CJ, Monaco AP, Feener C, Kunkel LM. Complete cloning of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) cDNA and preliminary genomic organization of the DMD gene in normal and affected individuals. Cell. 1987 Jul 31;50(3):509-17.
- 47. Koenig M, Monaco AP, Kunkel LM. The complete sequence of dystrophin predicts a rod-shaped cytoskeletal protein. Cell. 1988 Apr 22;53(2):219-28.
- Zubrzycka-Gaarn, E., Bulman, D., Karpati, G. *et al.* The Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene product is localized in sarcolemma of human skeletal muscle. *Nature* 333, 466– 469 (1988).
- 49. Barnea E, Zuk D, Simantov R, Nudel U, Yaffe D. Specificity of expression of the muscle and brain dystrophin gene promoters in muscle and brain cells. Neuron. 1990 Dec;5(6):881-8.
- 50. Chelly J, Hamard G, Koulakoff A, Kaplan JC, Kahn A, Berwald-Netter Y. Dystrophin gene transcribed from different promoters in neuronal and glial cells. Nature. 1990 Mar 1;344(6261):64-5.
- 51. Forrest SM, Cross GS, Flint T, Speer A, Robson KJ, Davies KE. Further studies of gene deletions that cause Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies. Genomics. 1988 Feb;2(2):109-14.
- 52. Mohammed F, Elshafey A, Al-balool H, Alaboud H, Al Ben Ali M, Baqer A, et al.
 (2018) Mutation spectrum analysis of Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy in 68 families in Kuwait: The era of personalized medicine. PLoS ONE 13(5): e0197205.
- 53. Hu X. Burghes AHM. Ray PN. Thompson MW. Murphy EG. Worton RG (1988) Partial gene duplication in Duchenne and Booker muscular dystrophy. J Med Genet 25:369-376.
- 54. Zhang T, Liu S, Wei T, Yong J, Mao Y, Lu X, et al. Development of a comprehensive real-time PCR assay for *Dystrophin* gene analysis and prenatal diagnosis of Chinese families. Clin Chim Acta. 2013; 424:33–38. pmid:23680072
- 55. Guo R, Zhu G, Zhu H, Ma R, Peng Y, Liang D, et al. DMD mutation spectrum analysis in 613 Chinese patients with dystrophinopathy. J Hum Genet. 2015;60(8):435–42. pmid:25972034

- 56. Prior TW1, Bridgeman SJ. Experience and strategy for the molecular testing of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Mol Diagn. 2005;7(3):317–326. pmid:16049303
- 57. Wang Y, Yang Y, Liu J, Chen XC, Liu X, Wang CZ, et al. Whole *Dystrophin* gene analysis by next-generation sequencing: a comprehensive genetic diagnosis of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. Mol Genet Genomics. 2014;289(5):1013– 1021. pmid:24770780.
- 58. Hayat Nosaeid M, Mahdian R, Jamali S, Maryami F, Babashah S, Maryami F, Karimipoor M, Zeinali S. Validation and comparison of two quantitative real-time PCR assays for direct detection of DMD/BMD carriers. Clin Biochem. 2009;42(12):1291–1299. pmid:19439162.
- 59. Neri, Marcella, et al. "The Genetic Landscape of Dystrophin Mutations in Italy: A Nationwide Study." *Frontiers in Genetics* 11.131 (2020). Print.
- 60. Monaco AP, Bertelson CJ, Liechti-Gallati S, Moser H, Kunkel LM. An explanation for the phenotypic differences between patients bearing partial deletions of the DMD locus. *Genomics* 1988; 2 (1): 90–95.
- 61. Edwards JH. The population genetics of Duchenne: natural and artificial selection in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Med Genet 1986; 23:521-30.
- 62. Zhang T, Liu S, Wei T, Yong J, Mao Y, Lu X, et al. Development of a comprehensive real-time PCR assay for *Dystrophin* gene analysis and prenatal diagnosis of Chinese families. Clin Chim Acta. 2013;424:33–38. pmid:23680072.
- Hoogerwaard EM, van der Wouw PA, Wilde AA, et al. Cardiac involvement in carriers of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. *Neuromuscul Disord*. 1999;9(5):347-351.
- 64. Song TJ, Lee KA, Kang SW, Cho H, Choi YC. Three cases of manifesting female carriers in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Yonsei Med J*. 2011;52(1):192-195.

- 65. Juan-Mateu J, Rodriguez MJ, Nascimento A, et al. Prognostic value of X-chromosome inactivation in symptomatic female carriers of dystrophinopathy. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* 2012; 7:82.
- 66. Moser H, Emery AE. The manifesting carrier in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Clin Genet 1974; 5:271-284.
- 67. Soltanzadeh P, Friez MJ, Dunn D, von Niederhausern A, Gurvich OL, Swoboda KJ, Sampson JB, Pestronk A, Connolly AM, Florence JM; Finkel RS, Bönnemann CG, Medne L, Mendell JR, Mathews KD, Wong BL, Sussman MD, Zonana J, Kovak K, Gospe SM Jr, Gappmaier E, Taylor LE, Howard MT, Weiss RB, Flanigan KM. Clinical and genetic characterization of manifesting carriers of DMD mutations. Neuromuscul Disord 2010; 20:499-504.
- 68. Boyd Y, Buckle V, Holt S, Munro E, Hunter D, Craig I. Muscular dystrophy in girls with X; autosome translocations. J Med Genet 1986; 23:484-490.
- 69. Azofeifa J, Voit T, Hübner C, Cremer M. X-chromosome methylation in manifesting and healthy carriers of dystrophinopathies: concordance of activation ratios among first degree female relatives and skewed inactivation as cause of the affected phenotypes. Hum Genet 1995; 96:167-176.
- 70. Brioschi S, Gualandi F, Scotton C, Armaroli A, Bovolenta M, Falzarano M, Sabatelli P, Selvatici R, D'Amico A, Pane M, Ricci G, Siciliano G, Tedeschi S et al. Genetic characterization in symptomatic female DMD carriers: lack of relationship between X-inactivation, transcriptional DMD allele balancing and phenotype. BMC Medical Genetics 2012; 13:73 doi 10.1186/1471 2350-13-73.

- 71. Viggiano E, Picillo E, Cirillo A, Politano L. Comparison of X-chromosome inactivation in Duchenne muscle/myocardium-manifesting carriers, non-manifesting carriers, and related daughters. Clin Genet 2012; October 30, doi: 10.1111/ege.12048.
- 72. Richards CS, Watkins SC, Hoffman EP, Schneider NR, Milsark IW, Katz KS, Cook JD, Kunkel LM, Cortada JM. Skewed X inactivation in a female MX twin results in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Am J Hum Genet 1990; 46:672-681.
- 73. Bushby, K. M. D., A. Hill, and J. G. Steele. "Failure of Early Diagnosis in Symptomatic Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy." *The Lancet* 353.9152 (1999): 557-58. Print.
- 74. Duchenne GBA. Recherches sur la paralysie musculaire pseudohypertrophique ou paralysie myosclerosique. Arch Gen Med 1868;11 525, 179209, 30521, 42943, 55288.
- 75. Carpenter S, Karpati G. Pathology of Skeletal Muscle. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2001.
- 76. Cooper ST, Lo HP, North KN. Single section Western blot: improving the molecular diagnosis of the muscular dystrophies. Neurology 2003; 61:937.
- 77. Hoffman EP, Fischbeck KH, Brown RH *et al.* Characterization of dystrophin in muscle biopsy specimens from patients with Duchenne's or Becker's muscular dystrophy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 1988; 318: 1363–8.
- 78. Emery A.E. H. Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. Oxford Monographs on Medical Genetics (2nd ed.). xv 1993; 392: Oxford Univ. Press Oxford, UK.
- Schmalbruch H. Regenerated muscle fibers in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a serial section study. *Neurology 34* 1984; 60-65.

- 80. Gorospe JRM, Nishikawa BK, Hoffman EP. Pathophysiology of dystrophin deficiency: a clinical and biological enigma. *Dystrophin: Gene, Protein, and Cell Biology*, Brwon SC, Lucy JA 1997; 201- 232 Cambridge Univ. Press Cambridge, UK.
- 81. Bradley WG, Hudgson P, Larson PF, Papapetropoulos TA, Jenkison MStructural changes in the early stages of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 35 1972; 451-455.
- Bell CD, Conen PE. Histopathological changes in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Neurol Sci 7 1968; 529-544
- 83. McDouall RM, Dunn MJ, Dubowitz V. Nature of the mononuclear infiltrate and the mechanism of muscle damage in juvenile dermatomyositis and Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *J Neurol Sci 99* 1990; 199-217
- 84. Tietz Clinical Guide to Laboratory Tests. Fourth edition. Edited by Wu AHB. St. Louis, Saunders Elsevier, 2006; 306-307
- 85. Zatz, Mayana, et al. "Serum Creatine-Kinase (Ck) and Pyruvate-Kinase (Pk) Activities in Duchenne (Dmd) as Compared with Becker (Bmd) Muscular Dystrophy." *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 102.2 (1991): 190-96. Print.
- 86. Beggs AH, Koenig M, Boyce FM, Kunkel LM. Detection of 98% of DMD/BMD gene deletions by polymerase chain reaction. Hum Genet. 1990; 86(1):45–8. [PubMed: 2253937]
- 87. Chamberlain, JS.; Gibbs, RA.; Ranier, JE.; Caskey, CT. Multiplex PCR for the diagnosis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. In: Innis, MA.; Gelfand, DH.; Sninsky, JJ.; White, TJ., editors. PCR Protocols: A Guide to Methods and Applications. Academic Press; San Francisco: 1990. p. 272-281.

- 88. Sansović I, Barišić I, Dumić K. Improved detection of deletions and duplications in the DMD gene using the multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) method. Biochem Genet 2013; 51: 189–201.
- 89. Hegde MR, Chin EL, Mulle JG, Okou DT, Warren ST, Zwick ME. Microarray-based mutation detection in the dystrophin gene. Hum Mutat 2008; 29: 1091–99.
- 90. Janssen, B et al. "MLPA Analysis for the Detection of Deletions, Duplications and Complex Rearrangements in the Dystrophin Gene: Potential and Pitfalls." *Neurogenetics* 6.1 (2005): 29–35.
- 91. del Gaudio D, Yang Y, Boggs BA, Schmitt ES, Lee JA, Sahoo T, et al. Molecular diagnosis of Duchenne/ Becker muscular dystrophy: enhanced detection of dystrophin gene rearrangements by oligonucleotide array-comparative genomic hybridization. Hum Mutat 2008; 29:1100-7.
- 92. Abbs S, Tuffery-Giraud S, Bakker E, Ferlini A, Sejersen T, Mueller CR. Best practice guidelines on molecular diagnostics in Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophies. Neuromuscul Disord 2010; 20:422-7.
- 93. Lim BC, Lee S, Shin J, et al Genetic diagnosis of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy using next-generation sequencing technology: comprehensive mutational search in a single platform *Journal of Medical Genetics* 2011;48:731-736.
- 94. Andrews JG, Lamb MM, Conway K, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Phenotype Classification in Duchenne and Becker Muscular Dystrophy Using Medical Record Data1. J Neuromuscul Dis. 2018;5(4):481-495.
- 95. Allsop KG, Ziter FA. Loss of strength and functional decline in Duchenne's dystrophy. *Arch Neurol* 1981;38(7):406_11.

- 96. Brooke MH, Griggs RC, Mendell JR, Fenichel GM, Shumate JB. The natural history of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a caveat for therapeutic trials. *Trans Am Neurol Assoc* 1981; 106:195_9.
- 97. Perlstein MA. Deep-tendon reflexes in pseudohypertrophic muscular dystrophy: rate and order of loss. *JAMA* 1965; 193:540.
- 98. James, Jeanne et al. "Electrocardiographic Abnormalities in Very Young Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Patients Precede the Onset of Cardiac Dysfunction." *Neuromuscular disorders: NMD* 21.7 (2011): 462–467.
- 100. Dubowitz V. Muscle Biopsy: A Practical Approach. London: Bailliere Tindall; 1985. pp. 289_339.
- 101. Inkley SR, Oldenburg FC, Vignos Jr. PJ. Pulmonary function in Duchenne muscular dystrophy related to stage of disease. Am J Med 1974;56(3):297-306.
- 102. Nigro G, Comi LI, Politano L, Bain RJ. The incidence and evolution of cardiomyopathy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Int J Cardiol. 1990; 26:271–7.
- 103. Hermans MC, Pinto YM, Merkies IS, de Die-Smulders CE, Crijns HJ, Faber CG. Hereditary muscular dystrophies and the heart. Neuromuscul Disord: NMD 2010;20(8):479_92.
- 104. Billard C, Gillet P, Barthez M, Hommet C, Bertrand P. Reading ability and processing in Duchenne muscular dystrophy and spinal muscular atrophy. Dev Med Child Neurol 1998;40(1):12_20.
- 105. Hinton VJ, De Vivo DC, Nereo NE, Goldstein E, Stern Y. Poor verbal working memory across intellectual level in boys with Duchenne dystrophy. Neurology 2000;54(11):2127_32.

- 106. Hinton VJ, De Vivo DC, Nereo NE, Goldstein E, Stern Y. Selective deficits in verbal working memory associated with a known genetic etiology: the neuropsychological profile of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2001;7 (1):45_54.
- 107. Hinton VJ, Fee RJ, Goldstein EM, De Vivo DC. Verbal and memory skills in males with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2007;49(2):123_8.
- 108. Dorman C, Hurley AD, D'Avignon J. Language and learning disorders of older boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Dev Med Child Neurol 1988;30(3):316_27.
- 109. Lorusso ML, Civati F, Molteni M, Turconi AC, Bresolin N, D'Angelo MG. Specific profiles of neurocognitive and reading functions in a sample of 42 Italian boys with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. Child Neuropsychol 2013;19(4):350_69.
- 110. Battini R, Chieffo D, Bulgheroni S, Piccini G, Pecini C, Lucibello S, Lenzi S, Moriconi F, Pane M, Astrea G, Baranello G, Alfieri P, Vicari S, Riva D, Cioni G, Mercuri E.
 Cognitive profile in Duchenne muscular dystrophy boys without intellectual disability: the role of executive functions. Neuromuscul Disord. 2018; 28:122–8.
- 111. Banihani R, Smile S, Yoon G, Dupuis A, Mosleh M, Snider A, McAdam L. Cognitive and neurobehavioral profile in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Child Neurol. 2015; 30:1472–82.
- 112. Ricotti V, Mandy WP, Scoto M, Pane M, Deconinck N, Messina S, Mercuri E, Skuse DH, Muntoni F. Neurodevelopmental, emotional, and behavioral problems in Duchenne muscular dystrophy in relation to underlying dystrophin gene mutations. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2016; 58:77–84.
- 113. Fee RJ, Hinton VJ. Resilience in children diagnosed with a chronic neuromuscular disorder. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2011;32 (9):644_50.

111

- 114. Elsenbruch S, Schmid J, Lutz S, Geers B, Schara U. Self-reported quality of life and depressive symptoms in children, adolescents, and adults with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a cross-sectional survey study. Neuropediatrics 2013;44(5):257_64.
- 115. Rahbek J, Werge B, Madsen A, Marquardt J, Steffensen BF, Jeppesen J. Adult life with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: observations among an emerging and unforeseen patient population. Pediatr Rehabil 2005;8(1):17_28.
- 116. Donders J, Taneja C. Neurobehavioral characteristics of children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Child Neuropsychol 2009;15 (3):295_304.
- 117. Hendriksen JG, Vles JS. Neuropsychiatric disorders in males with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: frequency rate of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), autism spectrum disorder, and obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Child Neurol 2008;23 (5):477_81.
- 118. Darke J, Bushby K, Le Couteur A, McConachie H. Survey of behaviour problems in children with neuromuscular diseases. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2006;10(3):129_34.
- 119. Hinton VJ, Nereo NE, Fee RJ, Cyrulnik SE. Social behavior problems in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2006;27(6):470_6.
- 120. Barohn RJ, Levine EJ, Olson JO, Mendell JR. Gastric hypomotility in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. N Engl J Med 1988;319 (1):151_8.
- 121. Chung BC, Park HJ, Yoon SB, Lee HW, Kim KW, Lee SI, et al. Acute gastroparesis in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. Yonsei Med J 1998;39(2):175–9.
- 122. Larson CM, Henderson RC. Bone mineral density and fractures in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Pediatr Orthop 2000;20(1):71_4.

- 123. Markham LW, Kinnett K, Wong BL, Woodrow Benson D, Cripe LH. Corticosteroid treatment retards development of ventricular dysfunction in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord. 2008 May;18(5):365-70. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2008.03.002. Epub 2008 Apr 23. PMID: 18436445.
- 124. Balaban, B., Matthews, D., Clayton, G., Carry, T. & (2005). Corticosteroid Treatment and Functional Improvement in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 84* (11), 843-850.
- 125. Barber, Brent J. et al. "Oral Corticosteroids and Onset of Cardiomyopathy in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy." *The Journal of pediatrics* 163.4 (2013): 1080–1084.e1.
- 126. Takeuchi, Fumi et al. "Prednisolone improves walking in Japanese Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients." *Journal of neurology* vol. 260,12 (2013): 3023-9. doi:10.1007/s00415-013-7104-y
- 127. Yilmaz O, Karaduman A, Topaloğlu H. Prednisolone therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy prolongs ambulation and prevents scoliosis. Eur J Neurol. 2004 Aug;11(8):541-4.
- 128. Schara, U, Mortier, and W Mortier. "Long-Term Steroid Therapy in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy–Positive Results Versus Side Effects." *Journal of clinical neuromuscular disease* 2.4 (2001): 179–183.
- 129. Drachman DB, Toyka KV, Myer E. Prednisone in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Lancet. 1974 Dec 14;2(7894):1409-12.
- 130. Biggar WD, Politano L, Harris VA, Passamano L, Vajsar J, Alman B, Palladino A, Comi LI, Nigro G. Deflazacort in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a comparison of two different protocols. Neuromuscul Disord. 2004 Sep;14(8-9):476-82.

- 131. Wong, Brenda L. et al. "Long-Term Outcome of Interdisciplinary Management of Patients with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Receiving Daily Glucocorticoid Treatment." *The Journal of pediatrics* 182 (2016): 296–303.e1.
- 132. Griggs RC, Herr BE, Reha A, et al. Corticosteroids in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: major variations in practice. Muscle Nerve 2013; 48: 27–31.
- 133. Wilton SD, Lloyd F, Carville K, Fletcher S, Honeyman K, Agrawal S, et al. Specific removal of the nonsense mutation from the mdx dystrophin mRNA using antisense oligonucleotides. Neuromuscul Disord 1999; 9:330-8.
- 134. Mann CJ, Honeyman K, Cheng AJ, Ly T, Lloyd F, Fletcher S, et al. Antisense-induced exon skipping and synthesis of dystrophin in the mdx mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2001; 98:42-7.
- 135. Aartsma-Rus A, Fokkema I, Verschuuren J, Ginjaar I, van Deutekom J, van Ommen GJ, et al. Theoretic applicability of antisense-mediated exon skipping for Duchenne muscular dystrophy mutations. Hum Mut 2009; 30:293-9.
- 136. Goemans NM, Tulinius M, van den Hauwe M, Kroksmark AK, Buyse G, Wilson RJ, van Deutekom JC, de Kimpe SJ, Lourbakos A, Campion G. Long-Term Efficacy, Safety, and Pharmacokinetics of Drisapersen in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy: Results from an Open-Label Extension Study. PLoS One. 2016 Sep 2;11(9): e0161955.
- 137. Mendell JR, Rodino-Klapac LR, Sahenk Z, Roush K, Bird L, Lowes LP, Alfano L, Gomez AM, Lewis S, Kota J, Malik V, Shontz K, Walker CM, Flanigan KM, Corridore M, Kean JR, Allen HD, Shilling C, Melia KR, Sazani P, Saoud JB, Kaye

EM; Eteplirsen Study Group. Eteplirsen for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Ann Neurol. 2013 Nov;74(5):637-47.

- 138. Cirak, Sebahattin et al. "Exon Skipping and Dystrophin Restoration in Patients with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy after Systemic Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino Oligomer Treatment: An Open-Label, Phase 2, Dose-Escalation Study." *The Lancet* (*British edition*) 378.9791 (2011): 595–605.
- 139. Clemens, Paula R et al. "Safety, Tolerability, and Efficacy of Viltolarsen in Boys with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Amenable to Exon 53 Skipping: A Phase 2 Randomized Clinical Trial." *JAMA neurology* 77.8 (2020): 982–991.
- 140. Kuntz NL, Wagner KR, East L, et al. Casimersen treatment in eligible patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics over 144 weeks of treatment. Presented at MDA Clinical and Scientific Conference 2021; March 15-18.
- 141. McDonald, Craig M et al. "Ataluren in Patients with Nonsense Mutation Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (ACT DMD): a Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Phase 3 Trial." *The Lancet (British edition)* 390.10101 (2017): 1489–1498.
- Bushby, K., Finkel, R., Wong, B., Barohn, R., Campbell, C., Comi, G.P., Connolly,
 A.M., Day, J.W., Flanigan, K.M., Goemans, N., Jones, K.J., Mercuri, E., Quinlivan,
 R., Renfroe, J.B., Russman, B., Ryan, M.M., Tulinius, M., Voit, T., Moore, S.A., Lee
 Sweeney, H., Abresch, R.T., Coleman, K.L., Eagle, M., Florence, J., Gappmaier, E.,
 Glanzman, A.M., Henricson, E., Barth, J., Elfring, G.L., Reha, A., Spiegel, R.J.,

O'donnell, M.W., Peltz, S.W., Mcdonald, C.M. and (2014), Ataluren treatment of patients with nonsense mutation dystrophinopathy. Muscle Nerve, 50: 477-487.

- 143. Mendell JR, Campbell K, Rodino-Klapac L, Sahenk Z, Shilling C, Lewis S, Bowles D, Gray S, Li C, Galloway G, Malik V, Coley B, Clark KR, Li J, Xiao X, Samulski J, McPhee SW, Samulski RJ, Walker CM. Dystrophin immunity in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. N Engl J Med. 2010 Oct 7;363(15):1429-37.
- 144. Flanigan KM, Campbell K, Viollet L, Wang W, Gomez AM, Walker CM, Mendell JR. Anti-dystrophin T cell responses in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: prevalence and a glucocorticoid treatment effect. Hum Gene Ther. 2013 Sep;24(9):797-806.
- 145. McNally EM, Kaltman JR, Benson DW, et al. Contemporary cardiac issues in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Working Group of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute in collaboration with Parent Project Muscular Dystrophy. Circulation 2015; 131: 1590–98.
- 146. Duboc, Denis et al. "Perindopril Preventive Treatment on Mortality in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy: 10 Years' Follow-Up." *The American heart journal* 154.3 (2007): 596–602.
- 147. Khirani S, Ramirez A, Aubertin G, Boule M, Chemouny C, Forin V, et al. Respiratory muscle decline in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Pediatr Pulmonol 2013.
- 148. Eagle, Michelle et al. "Managing Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy The Additive Effect of Spinal Surgery and Home Nocturnal Ventilation in Improving Survival." *Neuromuscular disorders: NMD* 17.6 (2007): 470–475. Web.
- 149. Kubler-Ross, E. (1969). On death and dying. New York: Macmillan.

- 150. Rando, Therese A., et al. Treatment of Complicated Mourning. United States, Research Press, 1993.
- 151. Margaret Stroebe, Henk Schut (1999) The Dual Process Model of Coping with Bereavement: Rationale and Description, Death Studies, 23:3, 197-224.
- 152. Schneider, J. The nature of loss, the nature of grief: A comprehensive model for facilitation and understanding. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1983.
- 153. Drotar, D., Baskiewicz, A., irvin, N., Kennell, J. and Klaus, M. 1975. "The Adaptation of Parents to the Birth of an Infant with Congenital Malformation: A Hypothetical Model.". *Pediatrics*, 56: 710–717.
- 154. Pearse, M. 1977. "The Child with Cancer: Impact on the Family.". *The Journal of Sclwol Health*,: 174–178.
- 155. Vaughn, A. J. and McNdell, J. R. 1986. "Maternal Attitudes and Adjustments to Terminal Illness in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy,"". In *Muscular Dystrophy and Allied Diseases: Impact on Patients, Family and Staff.*, Edited by: Charash, L.
 I., Bregman, A., Prichard, E. R., Lovelace, R. E., Kutscher, A.
 H. and Kelemen, J. New York: The Foundation of Thanatology.
- 156. Douglas, HA. (2014). Promoting Meaning-Making to Help Our Patients Grieve: An Exemplar for Genetic Counselors and Other Health Care Professionals. *Journal of Genetic Counseling*, 23(5): 695-700.
- 157. Bristor. "The Birth of a Handicapped Child--a Wholistic Model for Grieving." *Family relations* 33.1 25–32.
- 158. Lazarus, R.S., and S. Folkman. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. Springer Publishing Company, 1984. Print.

- 159. Clements D.B., Copeland L.G. & Loftus M. (1990) Critical times for families with a chronically ill child. Pediatric Nursing 16(2), 157-161.
- 160. Goldberg S, Morris P, Simmons RJ, Fowler RS, Levison H. Chronic illness in infancy and parenting stress: a comparison of three groups of parents. J Pediatr Psychol. 1990 Jun;15(3):347-58.
- 161. Gravelle AM. Caring for a child with a progressive illness during the complex chronic phase: parents' experience of facing adversity. J Adv Nurs. 1997 Apr;25(4):738-45.
- 162. Olshansky S. (1962) Chronic sorrow: a response to having a mentally defective child.Social Gasework 43. 190-193.
- 163. Wallander, J. L., Pitt, L. C., & Mellins, C. A. (1990). Child functional independence and maternal psychosocial stress as risk factors threatening adaptation in mothers of physically or sensorially handicapped children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 58(6), 818–824.
- 164. Holm KE; National Jewish Medical and Research Center, Co D, Patterson JM, Rueter MA, Wamboldt F. The Impact of Uncertainty Associated with a Child's Chronic Health Condition on Parents' Health. Fam Syst Health. 2008 Sep 1;26(3):282-295.
- 165. Heiman, T. Parents of Children with Disabilities: Resilience, Coping, and Future Expectations. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities* 14, 159–171 (2002).
- 166. Sloper P, Turner S. Risk, and resistance factors in the adaptation of parents of children with severe physical disability. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 1993 Feb;34(2):167-88.

- 167. Kazak, Anne E., and Robert S. Marvin. "Differences, Difficulties and Adaptation: Stress and Social Networks in Families with a Handicapped Child." *Family Relations*, vol. 33, no. 1, 1984, pp. 67–77.
- 168. Beresford, B., PhD, BSc (1996), Coping with the care of a severely disabled child.Health & Social Care in the Community, 4: 30-40.
- 169. Kerr, S.M. and McIntosh, J.B. (2000) Coping when a child has a disability: Exploring the impact of parent-to-parent support. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 26*, 309-322.
- 170. Batchelor, L.L., & Duke, G. (2019). Chronic sorrow in parents with chronically ill children. Pediatric Nursing, 45(4), 163-173, 183.
- 171. Shonkoff, J.P., Hauser-Cram, P., Krauss M. W., and Upshur C. (1992) Development of infants with disabilities and their families. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 57, 1-153.
- 172. McCubbin, Hamilton I., et al. "CHIP. Coping Health Inventory for Parents: An Assessment of Parental Coping Patterns in the Care of the Chronically Ill Child." *Journal of Marriage and Family*, vol. 45, no. 2, 1983, pp. 359–370.
- 173. Singer, G. H. S., Irvin, L. K., & Hawkins, N. J. (1988). Stress management training for parents of severely handicapped children. *Mental Retardation*, 26, 269-277
- 174. Diehl, S., Moffit, K., & Wade, S. (1991). Focus group interview with parents of children with medically complex needs: An intimate look at their perceptions and feelings. *Children's Health Cart, 10,* 170-178.
- 175. Breslau, N., Staruch, H. S., & Mortimer, E. A., Jr. (1982). Psychological distress in mothers of disabled children. *American Journal of Diseases of Children*, 136, 682-68

- 176. Rodrigues N, Patterson JM. Impact of severity of a child's chronic condition on the functioning of two-parent families. J Pediatr Psychol. 2007 May;32(4):417-26.
- 177. Breslau N, Davis GC. Chronic stress and major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1986 Apr;43(4):309-14.
- 178. Kovacs, Maria & Finkelstein, Richard & Feinberg, Terry & Crouse-Novak, Mary & Paulauskas, Stana & Pollock, Myrna. (1985). Initial Psychologic Responses of Parents to the Diagnosis of Insulin-dependent Diabetes Mellitus in Their Children. Diabetes care. 8. 568-75. 10.2337/diacare.8.6.568.
- 179. Margalit, Malka, Amiram Raviv, and Dee B Ankonina. "Coping and Coherence Among Parents with Disabled Children." *Journal of clinical child psychology*21.3 (1992): 202–209. Web.
- 180. Pelchat, D., Ricard, N., Bouchard, J-M., Perreault, M., Saucier, J-F., Berthiaume, M., & Bisson, J. (1999). Adaptation of parents in relation to their 6-month-old infant's type of disability. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 25(5), 377–397.
- 181. Stein, R. E. K. & Jessop, D. J. (1989). What diagnosis does not tell: The case for a noncategorical approach to chronic illness in childhood. Social Science and Medecine, 29, 769±778.
- 182. Mah JK, Thannhauser JE, McNeil DA, Dewey D. Being the lifeline: the parent experience of caring for a child with neuromuscular disease on home mechanical ventilation. Neuromuscul Disord. 2008 Dec;18(12):983-8.
- 183. Mah, J. K., & Biggar, D. (2012). Psychosocial Support Needs of Families of Boys with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 81–104. https://doi.org/10.5772/34647.

- 184. Buchanan, D., LaBarbera, C., Roelofs, R. & Olson, W. (1979) Reactions of families to children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. General Hospital Psychiatry, 1, 262– 269.
- 185. Pangalila RF, van den Bos GAM, Stam HJ, van Exel NJ, Brouwer WB, Roebroeck ME. Subjective caregiver burden of parents of adults with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Disabil Rehabil 2012; 34: 988–96.
- 186. Magliano L, D'Angelo MG, Vita G, et al. Psychological and practical difficulties among parents and healthy siblings of children with Duchenne vs. Becker muscular dystrophy: an Italian comparative study. Acta Myol 2014; 33: 136–43.
- 187. Landfeldt E, Lindgren P, Bell CF, et al. Quantifying the burden of caregiving in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Neurol 2016; 263: 906–15.
- 188. Kornfeld, Marcia S., and Irwin M. Siegel. "Parental Group Therapy in the Management of a Fatal Childhood Disease." *Health & Social Work* 4.3 (1979): 99-118. Print.
- 189. Pousada, Thais et al. "Determining the burden of the family caregivers of people with neuromuscular diseases who use a wheelchair." *Medicine* vol. 97,24 (2018): e11039.
- 190. Holroyd J, Guthrie D. Family stress with chronic childhood illness: cystic fibrosis, neuromuscular disease, and renal disease. J Clin Psychol. 1986 Jul;42(4):552-61.
- 191. Cakaloz B, Kurul S. The investigation of Duchenne muscular dystrophy children's family functions and their mothers' depression and anxiety levels. Klinik Psikiyatri 2005; 8:24-30.
- 192. Nereo NE, Fee RJ, Hinton VJ. Parental stress in mothers of boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Pediatr Psychol. 2003 Oct-Nov;28(7):473-84.

- 193. Gocheva, Vanya & Schmidt, Simone & Orsini, Anna-Lena & Hafner, Patricia & Schädelin, Sabine & Weber, Peter & Fischer, Dirk. (2019). Psychosocial adjustment and parental stress in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. European Journal of Paediatric Neurology. 23.
- 194. Chen JY, Chen SS, Jong YJ, Yang YH, Chang YY. A comparison of the stress and coping strategies between the parents of children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy and children with a fever. J Pediatr Nurs 2002; 17: 369–79.
- 195. Chen JY, Clark MJ. Family function in families of children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Fam Community Health. 2007 Oct-Dec;30(4):296-304.
- 196. Schreiber-Katz O, Klug C, Thiele S, et al. Comparative cost of illness analysis and assessment of health care burden of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies in Germany. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2014; 9: 210.
- 197. Read J, Kinali M, Muntoni F, Garralda ME. Psychosocial adjustment in siblings of young people with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2010; 14: 340–8.
- 198. Reid DT, Renwick RM. Relating familial stress to the psychosocial adjustment of adolescents with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Int J Rehabil Res 2001; 24: 83–93.
- 199. Webb CL. Parents' perspectives on coping with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Child Care Health Dev. 2005 Jul;31(4):385-96.
- 200. de Lucca, Silvana Aparecida, and Eucia Beatriz Lopes Petean. "Fatherhood: experiences of fathers of boys diagnosed with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy." *Ciência & Saúde Coletiva*, vol. 21, no. 10, 2016, p. 3081+.

- 201. Saetrang T, Bjørk IT, Capjon H, Rasmussen M. Parent-child communication, and timing of interventions are challenges in the Duchenne muscular dystrophy care. Acta Paediatr. 2019 Mar;108(3):535-540.
- 202. Nozoe KT, Hachul H, Hirotsu C, et al. The relationship between sexual function and quality of sleep in caregiving mothers of sons with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Sex Med 2014; 2: 133–40.
- 203. Nozoe KT, Polesel DN, Moreira GA, et al. Sleep quality of mother-caregivers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients. Sleep Breath 2016; 20: 129–34.
- 204. Nozoe KT, Kim LJ, Polesel DN, et al. Sleep pattern and spectral analysis of caregivermothers of sons with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, and an examination of differences between carriers and non-carriers. Sleep Med 2017; 32: 114–21.
- 205. American Psychological Association. Understanding psychotherapy and how it works.2016. http://www.apa.org/helpcenter/understanding-psychotherapy.aspx
- 206. Dwight-Johnson M, Sherbourne CD, Liao D, Wells KB: Treatment preferences among depressed primary care patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2000; 15:527–534.
- 207. Sava FA, Yates BT, Lupu V, Szentagotai A, David D. Cost-effectiveness and costutility of cognitive therapy, rational emotive behavioral therapy, and fluoxetine (Prozac) in treating depression: a randomized clinical trial. J Clin Psychol. 2009 Jan;65(1):36-52.
- 208. Rush, A.J., Beck, A.T., Kovacs, M. *et al.* Comparative efficacy of cognitive therapy and pharmacotherapy in the treatment of depressed outpatients. *Cogn Ther Res* 1, 17–37 (1977).

- 209. Murphy GE, Simons AD, Wetzel RD, Lustman PJ. Cognitive therapy and pharmacotherapy. Singly and together in the treatment of depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1984 Jan;41(1):33-41.
- 210. Barlow, David H et al. "Panic and Generalized Anxiety Disorders: Nature and Treatment." *Behavior therapy*15.5 (1984): 431–449.
- 211. Butler, G et al. "Anxiety Management for Persistent Generalized Anxiety." *British journal of psychiatry*151.4 (1987): 535–542
- 212. Power, K.G et al. "A Controlled Comparison of Cognitive- Behavior Therapy, Diazepam, and Placebo, Alone and in Combination, for the Treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder." *Journal of anxiety disorders* 4.4 (1990): 267–292.
- 213. Mohlman, J., Gorenstein, E. E., Kleber, M., DeJesus, M., Gorman, J. M., & Papp, L. A. (2003). Standard and enhanced cognitive– behavioral therapy for late-life generalized anxiety disorder. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 11, 24–32.
- 214. Stanley, M. A., Hopko, D. R., Diefenbach, G. J., Bourland, S. L., Rodriquez, H., & Wagener, P. (2003). Cognitive– behavior therapy for late-life generalized anxiety disorder in primary care. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 11, 92–96.
- 215. Schulberg, Herbert C., et al. "Treating Major Depression in Primary Care Practice:
 Eight-Month Clinical Outcomes." *Archives of General Psychiatry* 53.10 (1996): 913-19. Print.
- 216. Bolton, Paul et al. "Group Interpersonal Psychotherapy for Depression in Rural Uganda: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association* 289.23 (2003): 3117–3124.

- 217. Spinelli MG, Endicott J. Controlled clinical trial of interpersonal psychotherapy versus parenting education program for depressed pregnant women. Am J Psychiatry. 2003 Mar;160(3):555-62.
- 218. Mufson L, Weissman MM, Moreau D, Garfinkel R. Efficacy of interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed adolescents. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1999 Jun;56(6):573-9.
- 219. Bateman A, Fonagy P: Effectiveness of partial hospitalization in the treatment of borderline personality disorder: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Psychiatry 1999; 156:1563-1569
- 220. Bateman, Anthony, and Peter Fonagy. "Randomized Controlled Trial of Outpatient Mentalization-Based Treatment Versus Structured Clinical Management for Borderline Personality Disorder." *The American journal of psychiatry* 166.12 (2009): 1355–1364.
- 221. Winston A, Laikin M, Pollack J, Samstag LW, McCullough L, Muran JC: Short-term psychotherapy of personality disorders. Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151:190-194
- 222. Korner, Anthony et al. "Borderline Personality Disorder Treated with the Conversational Model: A Replication Study." *Comprehensive psychiatry* 47.5 (2006): 406–411.
- 223. Knekt P, Lindfors O, Härkänen T, Välikoski M, Virtala E, Laaksonen MA, Marttunen M, Kaipainen M, Renlund C; Helsinki Psychotherapy Study Group. Randomized trial on the effectiveness of long-and short-term psychodynamic psychotherapy and solution-focused therapy on psychiatric symptoms during a 3-year follow-up. Psychol Med. 2008 May;38(5):689-703.

- 224. Manne SL, Rubin S, Edelson M, Rosenblum N, Bergman C, Hernandez E, Carlson J, Rocereto T, Winkel G. Coping and communication-enhancing intervention versus supportive counseling for women diagnosed with gynecological cancers. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2007 Aug;75(4):615-628.
- 225. Szigethy E, Bujoreanu SI, Youk AO, Weisz J, Benhayon D, Fairclough D, Ducharme P, Gonzalez-Heydrich J, Keljo D, Srinath A, Bousvaros A, Kirshner M, Newara M, Kupfer D, DeMaso DR. Randomized efficacy trial of two psychotherapies for depression in youth with inflammatory bowel disease. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2014 Jul;53(7):726-35.
- 226. McIntosh VV, Jordan J, Carter FA, Luty SE, McKenzie JM, Bulik CM, Frampton CM, Joyce PR. Three psychotherapies for anorexia nervosa: a randomized, controlled trial. Am J Psychiatry. 2005 Apr;162(4):741-7.
- 227. Zitrin CM, Klein DF, Woerner MG. Behavior therapy, supportive psychotherapy, imipramine, and phobias. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1978 Mar;35(3):307-16.
- 228. Barrowclough, Christine et al. "A Randomized Trial of the Effectiveness of Cognitive–Behavioral Therapy and Supportive Counseling for Anxiety Symptoms in Older Adults." *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology* 69.5 (2001): 756–762.
- 229. Stanley, M. A., Beck, J. G., & Glassco, J. D. (1996). Treatment of generalized anxiety in older adults: A preliminary comparison of cognitive– behavioral and supportive approaches. Behavior Therapy, 27, 565–581.
- 230. Ward, Elaine et al. "Randomised Controlled Trial of Non-Directive Counselling, Cognitive-Behavior Therapy, and Usual General Practitioner Care for Patients with Depression. I: Clinical Effectiveness." *BMJ*321.7273 (2000): 1383–1388.

- 231. Wallerstein RS. The Psychotherapy Research Project of the Menninger Foundation: an overview. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1989 Apr;57(2):195-205.
- 232. Bögels SM, Wijts P, Oort FJ, Sallaerts SJ. Psychodynamic psychotherapy versus cognitive behavior therapy for social anxiety disorder: an efficacy and partial effectiveness trial. Depress Anxiety. 2014 May;31(5):363-73.
- 233. Thompson, Larry W, Dolores Gallagher, and Julia Steinmetz Breckenridge.
 "Comparative Effectiveness of Psychotherapies for Depressed Elders." *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology* 55.3 (1987): 385–390.
- 234. American Psychiatric Association. (2021). What Is Psychiatry? https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/what-is-psychiatry-menu.
- 235. Fleischhacker, W. Wolfgang et al. "A Double-Blind, Randomized Comparative Study of Aripiprazole and Olanzapine in Patients with Schizophrenia." *Biological psychiatry* (1969) 65.6 (2009): 510–517.
- 236. Valencia, M et al. "The Beneficial Effects of Combining Pharmacological and Psychosocial Treatment on Remission and Functional Outcome in Outpatients with Schizophrenia." *Journal of psychiatric research*47.12 (2013): 1886–1892.
- 237. Rapport MD, Stoner G, DuPaul GJ, Kelly KL, Tucker SB, Shroeler T (1988). Attention deficit disorder and methylphenidate: a multilevel analysis of dose-response effects on children's impulsivity across settings. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 27, 60–69.
- 238. Gittleman-Klein R (1987). Pharmacotherapy of childhood hyperactivity: an update. In:
 Meltzer HY (Eds.), Psychopharmacology: The Third Generation of Progress (pp. 1215–1224). New York: Raven Press.

- 239. Famularo R, Fenton T (1987). The effect of methylphenidate on school grades in children with attention deficit disorder without hyperactivity: a preliminary report. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 48, 112–114.
- 240. Tucker, P et al. "Paroxetine Increases Heart Rate Variability in Panic Disorder." *Journal* of clinical psychopharmacology 17.5 (1997): 370–376.
- 241. Davidson, J. R. T et al. "Efficacy, Safety, and Tolerability of Venlafaxine Extended Release and Buspirone in Outpatients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder." *The journal of clinical psychiatry* 60.8 (1999): 528–535.
- 242. Davidson, Jonathan et al. "Treatment of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder with Amitriptyline and Placebo." *Archives of general psychiatry* 47.3 (1990): 259–266.
- 243. Klein DF, Zitrin CM, Woerner M. Antidepressants, anxiety, panic, and phobia. In: Lipton MA, ed. Psychopharmacology: A Generation of Progress. New York, NY: Raven Press; 1978: 1401-1410.
- 244. Rickels, Karl et al. "Antidepressants for the Treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder: A Placebo-Controlled Comparison of Imipramine, Trazodone, and Diazepam." *Archives of general psychiatry* 50.11 (1993): 884–895.
- 245. Sheehan, David V, James Ballenger, and Gary Jacobsen. "Treatment of Endogenous Anxiety with Phobic, Hysterical, and Hypochondriacal Symptoms." *Archives of* general psychiatry 37.1 (1980): 51–59.
- 246. Mavissakalian, Matig R, and James M Perel. "Imipramine Dose-Response Relationship in Panic Disorder with Agoraphobia: Preliminary Findings." Archives of general psychiatry 46.2 (1989): 127–131.

- 247. Kosten, Thomas R et al. "Pharmacotherapy for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Using Phenelzine or Imipramine." *The journal of nervous and mental disease* 179.6 (1991): 366–370.
- 248. Pato MT. Current Treatment of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press; 1991. Zohar J, ed. Clinical Practice Series; vol 18.
- 249. Simon GE, VonKorff M, Wagner EH, Barlow W (1993): Patterns of antidepressant use in community practice. Gen Hosp Psychiatry15:399–408.
- 250. Malt, Ulrik F, et al. "The Norwegian Naturalistic Treatment Study of Depression in General Practice (Nordep)—I: Randomized Double-Blind Study." *BMJ* 318.7192 (1999): 1180-84. Print.
- 251. Linden, Michael, et al. "The Prescribing of Psychotropic Drugs by Primary Care Physicians". Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology, vol. 19, no. 2, April 1999, pp. 132-140.
- 252. Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR, et al. Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: A STAR*D report. Am J Psychiat. 2006;163(11):1905–1917.
- 253. Thomas, Laura et al. "Prevalence of treatment-resistant depression in primary care: cross-sectional data." *The British journal of general practice: the journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners* vol. 63,617 (2013): e852-8. doi:10.3399/bjgp13X675430
- 254. Rush A.J., Wisniewski S.R., Warden D., Luther J.F., Davis L.L., Fava M., Nierenberg A.A., and Trivedi M.H.: Selecting among second-step antidepressant medication

monotherapies: predictive value of clinical, demographic, or first-step treatment features. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 2008; 65: pp. 870-880

- 255. Iosifescu D.V., Bankier B., and Fava M.: Impact of medical comorbid disease on antidepressant treatment of major depressive disorder. Curr. Psychiatry Rep. 2004; 6: pp. 193-201
- 256. Bock C., Bukh J.D., Vinberg M., Gether U., and Kessing L.V.: The influence of comorbid personality disorder and neuroticism on treatment outcome in first episode depression. Psychopathology 2010; 43: pp. 197-204
- 257. Correa R., Akiskal H., Gilmer W., Nierenberg A.A., Trivedi M., and Zisook S.: Is unrecognized bipolar disorder a frequent contributor to apparent treatment resistant depression? J. Affect. Disord. 2010; 127: pp. 10-18
- 258. Dunner, David L et al. "Prospective, Long-Term, Multicenter Study of the Naturalistic Outcomes of Patients with Treatment-Resistant Depression." *The journal of clinical psychiatry* 67.5 (2006): 688–695. Web.
- 259. Reutfors J., Andersson T.M., Brenner P., Brandt L., DiBernardo A., Li G., Hagg D.,
 Wingard L., and Boden R.: Mortality in treatment-resistant unipolar depression: a register-based cohort study in Sweden. J. Affect. Disord. 2018; 238: pp. 674-679
- 260. Souery D., Oswald P., Massat I., Bailer U., Bollen J., Demyttenaere K., Kasper S., Lecrubier Y., Montgomery S., Serretti A., Zohar J., Mendlewicz J., and Group for the Study of Resistant, D: Clinical factors associated with treatment resistance in major depressive disorder: results from a European multicenter study. J. Clin. Psychiatr. 2007; 68: pp. 1062-1070

- 261. Lepine B.A., Moreno R.A., Campos R.N., and Couttolenc B.F.: Treatment-resistant depression increases health costs and resource utilization. Rev. Bras. Psiquiatr. 2012; 34: pp. 379-388
- 262. Amos T.B., Tandon N., Lefebvre P., Pilon D., Kamstra R.L., Pivneva I., and Greenberg P.E.: Direct and indirect cost burden and change of employment status in treatment-resistant depression: a matched-cohort study using a US commercial claims database.
 J. Clin. Psychiatr. 2018; 79:
- 263. Russell J.M., Hawkins K., Ozminkowski R.J., Orsini L., Crown W.H., Kennedy S., Finkelstein S., Berndt E., and Rush A.J.: The cost consequences of treatment-resistant depression. J. Clin. Psychiatr. 2004; 65: pp. 341-347.
- 264. Rickels, Karl et al. "Long-Term Diazepam Therapy and Clinical Outcome." *JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association* 250.6 (1983): 767–771.
- 265. Klerman, Gerald L. "Drug Treatment of Panic Disorder: Comparative Efficacy of Alprazolam, Imipramine, and Placebo." *British journal of psychiatry* 160.2 (1992): 191–202.
- 266. Munjack, D. J et al. "Alprazolam, Propranolol, and Placebo in the Treatment of Panic Disorder and Agoraphobia with Panic Attacks." *Journal of clinical psychopharmacology* 9.1 (1989): 22–27.
- 267. Ballenger, James C et al. "Alprazolam in Panic Disorder and Agoraphobia: Results from a Multicenter Trial: I. Efficacy in Short-Term Treatment." *Archives of general psychiatry* 45.5 (1988): 413–422.
- 268. Noyes, Russell et al. "Diazepam and Propranolol in Panic Disorder and Agoraphobia." *Archives of general psychiatry* 41.3 (1984): 287–292.

- 269. Chung, Jae Eun. "Social Interaction in Online Support Groups: Preference for Online Social Interaction over Offline Social Interaction." *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 29.4 (2013): 1408–14. Print.
- 270. Ainbinder, Judith G et al. "A Qualitative Study of Parent-to-Parent Support for Parents of Children with Special Needs." *Journal of pediatric psychology* 23.2 (1998): 99–109.
- 271. Cohen, S., Gordon, L. U., & Gottlieb, B. H. (2000). Social support measurement and *intervention: a guide for health and social scientists*. Oxford University Press.
- 272. Wuthnow, R. (1994). Sharing the journey: Support groups and America's new quest for community. New York, NY: Free Press.
- 273. Hartman AF, Radin MB, McConnell B. Parent-to-parent support: a critical component of health care services for families. Issues Compr Pediatr Nurs. 1992 Jan-Mar;15(1):55-67.
- 274. Telleen, Sharon, Allen Herzog, and Teresa L Kilbane. "Impact Of a Family Support Program on Mothers' Social Support and Parenting Stress." *American journal of orthopsychiatry* 59.3 (1989): 410–419.
- 275. Wei, Ying-Shun et al. "Support Groups for Caregivers of Intellectually Disabled Family Members: Effects on Physical-Psychological Health and Social Support." *Journal of clinical nursing* 21.11-12 (2012): 1666–1677.
- 276. Singer S., George H et al. "A Multi-Site Evaluation of Parent-to-Parent Programs for Parents of Children with Disabilities." *Journal of early intervention* 22.3 (1999): 217–229.

- 277. Sheija, A, and C Manigandan. "Efficacy of Support Groups for Spouses of Patients with Spinal Cord Injury and Its Impact on Their Quality of Life." *International journal of rehabilitation research* 28.4 (2005): 379–383.
- 278. Bademli, Kerime, and Zekiye Çetinkaya Duman. "Effects of a Family-to-Family Support Program on the Mental Health and Coping Strategies of Caregivers of Adults With Mental Illness: A Randomized Controlled Study." *Archives of psychiatric nursing* 28.6 (2014): 392–398.
- 279. Phillips M. Support groups for parents of chronically ill children. Pediatr Nurs. 1990Jul-Aug;16(4):404-6.
- 280. Matloff, Ellen T, and Susan J Zimmerman. "Framework for a Proactive Parent Support Group: The Syracuse Cystic Fibrosis Model." *Journal of pediatric health care* 10.6 (1996): 264–271.
- 281. Coulson, Neil S. "Receiving Social Support Online: An Analysis of a Computer-Mediated Support Group for Individuals Living with Irritable Bowel Syndrome." *Cyberpsychology & behavior* 8.6 (2005): 58–584.
- 282. Mentis, Manolis et al. "Efficacy of a Support Group Intervention on Psychopathological Characteristics Among Caregivers of Psychotic Patients." *International journal of social psychiatry* 61.4 (2015): 373–378.
- 283. Esquivel, Adol, Funda Meric-Bernstam, and Elmer V Bernstam. "Accuracy and Self Correction of Information Received from an Internet Breast Cancer List: Content Analysis." *BMJ* 332.7547 (2006): 939–7.
- 284. Koball, Afton M et al. "Content and Accuracy of Nutrition-Related Posts in Bariatric Surgery Facebook Support Groups." *Surgery for obesity and related diseases* 14.12 (2018): 1897–1902.
- 285. Taylor, S.E., Buunk, B.P, and Aspinwall, L.G. (1990) Social comparison, stress, and coping. *Personality and Social Psychology Bullentin*, *12*, 74-89.
- 286. Sherbourne CD (1988): The role of social support and life stress events in use of mental health services. Soc Sci Med27:1393–1400
- 287. Kessler RC, McLeod JD (1995): Social support and mental health in community samples. In: Cohen S, Syme SL, editors. Social Support and Health. Orlando, FL: Academic Press, pp219–240.
- 288. Thoitis, P.A. (1986) Social support as coping assistance. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *54*, 416-423.
- 289. Diefenbach, Cynthia A, Paula R Klemm, and Evelyn R Hayes. "Anonymous Meltdown': Content Themes Emerging in a Non-facilitated, Peer-Only, Unstructured, Asynchronous Online Support Group for Family Caregivers." *Computers, informatics, nursing* 35.12 (2017): 630–638. Web.
- 290. Hodges, Lucy, and Bridget Dibb. "Social Comparison Within Self-Help Groups: Views of Parents of Children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy." *Journal of health psychology* 15.4 (2010): 483–492.
- 300. Oprescu, Florin et al. "Online information exchanges for parents of children with a rare health condition: key findings from an online support community." *Journal of medical Internet research* vol. 15,1 e16. 22 Jan. 2013, doi:10.2196/jmir.2423.
- 301. Guthrie, Jennifer & Kunkel, Adrianne. (2015). Communication in Support Groups.

- 302. Gresenz CR, Stockdale SE, Wells KB (2000): Community effects on access to behavioral health care. Health Serv Res35:293–306
- 303. McClellan CB. The Affordable Care Act's Dependent Care Coverage Expansion and Behavioral Health Care. The Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics. 2017 Sep;20(3):111-130.
- 304. Baicker, K., Allen, H.L., Wright, B.J., Taubman, S.L. and Finkelstein, A.N. (2018), The Effect of Medicaid on Management of Depression: Evidence from the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment. The Milbank Quarterly, 96: 29-56.
- 305. Novak, P., Anderson, A.C. & Chen, J. Changes in Health Insurance Coverage and Barriers to Health Care Access Among Individuals with Serious Psychological Distress Following the Affordable Care Act. *Adm Policy Ment Health* 45, 924–932 (2018).
- 306. Horgan CM (1986): The demand for ambulatory mental health services from specialty providers. Health Serv Res21:291–319.
- 307. Wells, Kenneth B et al. "Alcohol, drug abuse, and mental health care for uninsured and insured adults." *Health services research* vol. 37,4 (2002): 1055-66.
- 308. Alvidrez J, Azocar F: Distressed women's clinic patients: Preferences for mental health treatments and perceived obstacles. *General Hospital Psychiatry*. 1999, 21:340–347.
- 309. Sturm R, Sherbourne CD (2000): Managed care and unmet need for mental health and substance abuse care in 1998.PsychiatrServ51:177.

- 310. Jitender Sareen, M.D., et al. "Perceived Barriers to Mental Health Service Utilization in the United States, Ontario, and the Netherlands." *Psychiatric Services* 58.3 (2007): 357-64.
- 311. Wang PS, Lane M, Olfson M, Pincus HA, Wells KB, Kessler RC. Twelve-Month Use of Mental Health Services in the United States: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry.2005;62(6):629–640.
- 313. The WHO World Mental Health Survey Consortium. Prevalence, Severity, and Unmet Need for Treatment of Mental Disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. JAMA. 2004;291(21):2581–2590.
- 314. Leaf PJ, Bruce ML, Tischler GL, Freeman DH Jr, Weissman MM, Myers JK (1988):
 Factors affecting the utilization of specialty and general medical mental health services. MedCare26:9–26
- 315. Blumenthal R, Endicott J: Barriers to seeking treatment for major depression. Depression and Anxiety. 1996, 4:273–278.
- 316. Brody DS, Khaliq AA, Thompson II TL: Patients' perspectives on the management of emotional distress in primary care settings. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 1997, 12:403–406.
- 317. Weddington Jr. WW: Adherence by medical-surgical inpatients to recommendations for outpatient psychiatric treatment. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*. 1983, *39*:225–235.
- 318. Leaf PJ, Bruce ML, Tischler GL (1986): The differential effect of attitudes on the use of mental health services. Soc Psychiatry21:187–192.

- 319. Sherbourne CD, Dwight-Johnson M, Klap R (2001): Psychological distress, unmet need, and barriers to mental health care for women. Womens Health Issues11:231–243
- 320. Jorm, A. F., Morgan, A. J., & Wright, A. (2008). A comparison of clinician, youth, and parent beliefs about helpfulness of interventions for early psychosis. Psychiatric Services, 59, 1115–1120.
- 321. Pyne, J. M., Rost, K. M., Farahati, F., Tripathi, S. P., Smith, J., Williams, D. K., Coyne, J. C. (2005). One size fits some: The impact of patient treatment attitudes on the cost-effectiveness of a depression primary care intervention. Psychological Medicine, 35, 839–854.
- 322. Priest RG, Vize C, Roberts A, Roberts M, Tylee A: Lay people's attitudes to treatment of depression: Results of opinion poll for Defeat Depression Campaign just before its launch. *British Medical Journal*. 1996, *313*:858–859.
- 323. Churchill R, Khaira M, Gretton V, et al.: Treating depression in general practice:
 Factors affecting patients' treatment preferences. *British Journal of General Practice*.
 2000, 50:905–906.
- 324. Bedi N, Chilvers C, Churchill R, et al.: Assessing effectiveness of treatment of depression in primary care. Partially randomized preference trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 2000, 177:312–318.
- 325. O'Mahen, H.A., & Flynn, H.A. (2008). Preferences and perceived barriers to treatment for depression during the perinatal period. Journal of Women's Health (Larchmt), 17(8), 1301–1309.

- 326. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB: The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2001, *16*:606–613.
- 327. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder: The GAD-7. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(10):1092– 1097.
- 328. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB. Validation, and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders. Patient Health Questionnaire. JAMA. 1999 Nov 10;282(18):1737-44.
- 329. Ford D (1994): Recognition and under-recognition of mental disorders in adult primary care. In: Miranda J, Hohmann AA, Atkisson CC et al., editors. *Mental Disorders in Primary Care.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, pp 186–205.
- 330. Wells KB, Sturm R, Sherbourne CD, Meredith LS (1996): Caring for Depression. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- 331. Young AS, Klap R, Sherbourne CD, Wells KB (2001): The quality of care for depressive and anxiety disorders in the United States. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:55–61.
- 332. Rogers WH, Wells KB, Meredith LS, Sturm R, Burnam MA (1993): Outcomes for depressed outpatients under prepaid or fee-for-service financing. Arch Gen Psychiatry50:517–525.
- 333. Yamaguchi M, Sonoda E, Suzuki M. The experience of parents of adult sons with Duchenne muscular dystrophy regarding their prolonged roles as primary caregivers: a serial qualitative study. Disabil Rehabil. 2019 Apr;41(7):746-752.

- 334. Andrade LH, Alonso J, Mneimneh Z, et al. Barriers to mental health treatment: results from the WHO World Mental Health surveys. *Psychol Med.* 2014;44(6):1303-1317. doi:10.1017/S0033291713001943
- 335. Bruwer, Belinda et al. "Barriers to mental health care and predictors of treatment dropout in the South African Stress and Health Study." *Psychiatric services* (*Washington, D.C.*) vol. 62,7 (2011): 774-81. doi:10.1176/ps.62.7. pss6207_0774
- 336. Kessler, R C et al. "The Prevalence and Correlates of Untreated Serious Mental Illness." *Health services research* 36.6 Pt 1 (2001): 987–1007.
- 337. Goodwin, Renee D et al. "Mental Health Service Utilization in the United States: The Role of Personality Factors." *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 37.12 (2002): 561–566.
- 338. Dahlberg, K. M., Waern, M., & Runeson, B. (2008). Mental health literacy and attitudes in a Swedish community sample: Investigating the role of personal experience of mental health care. BMC Public Health, 8.
- 339. Jorm, A. F., Nakane, Y., Christensen, H., Yoshioka, K., Griffiths, K. M., & Wata, Y. (2005). Public beliefs about treatment and outcome of mental disorders: A comparison of Australia and Japan. BMC Medicine, 3.
- 340. Kermode, M., Bowen, K., Arole, S., Joag, K., & Jorm, A. F. (2009). Community beliefs about treatments and outcomes of mental disorders: A mental health literacy survey in a rural area of Maharashtra, India. Public Health, 123, 476–483.
- 341. Klineberg, E., Biddle, L., Donovan, J., & Gunnell, D. (2010). Symptom recognition and help seeking for depression in young adults: A vignette study. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 46, 495–505.

- 342. Pescosolido, B. A., Jensen, P. S., Martin, J. K., Perry, B. L., Olafsdottir, S., & Fettes, D. (2008). Public knowledge and assessment of child mental health problems: Findings from the National Stigma Study-Children. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 47, 339–349.
- Wang, J., Adair, C., Fick, G., Lai, D., Evans, B., Perry, B. W., Addington, D. (2007).
 Depression literacy in Alberta: Findings from a general population sample. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry/La revue Canadienne de psychiatrie, 52, 442–449.
- 344. Jorm, A. F., Kelly, C. M., Wright, A., Parslow, R. A., Harris, M. G., & McGorry, P. D. (2006). Belief in dealing with depression alone: Results from community surveys of adolescents and adults. Journal of Affective Disorders, 96, 59–65. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.05.018
- 345. Bennett, Tess, Deborah A. DeLuca, and Robin W. Allen. "Families of Children with Disabilities: Positive Adaptation across the Life Cycle." *Children & Schools* 18.1 (1996): 31-44. Print.
- 346. Rubenstein LV, Jackson-Triche M, Unu tzer J, Miranda J, Minnium K, Pearson ML, Wells KB (1999): Evidenced-based care for depression in managed primary care practices. Health Aff (Millwood)18(5):89–105
- 347. Mack, Simon et al. "Self-reported utilization of mental health services in the adult German population--evidence for unmet needs? Results of the DEGS1-Mental Health Module (DEGS1-MH)." *International journal of methods in psychiatric research* vol. 23,3 (2014): 289-303. doi:10.1002/mpr.1438

- 348. Alonso, J et al. "Use of Mental Health Services in Europe: Results from the European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD) Project." Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica 109.s420 (2004): 47–54.
- 349. Mandell, David S, and Mark S Salzer. "Who Joins Support Groups Among Parents of Children with Autism?" Autism: the international journal of research and practice 11.2 (2007): 111–122.
- 350. Kovess-Masfety, Viviane et al. "Differences in Lifetime Use of Services for Mental Health Problems in Six European Countries." *Psychiatric services (Washington,* D.C.) 58.2 (2007): 213–220.
- 351. Brenes, Gretchen A et al. "Telephone-Delivered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy and Telephone-Delivered Nondirective Supportive Therapy for Rural Older Adults with Generalized Anxiety Disorder: A Randomized Clinical Trial." *JAMA psychiatry* (*Chicago, Ill.*) 72.10 (2015): 1012–1020.
- 352. Strecher, V. (2007). Internet methods for delivering behavioral and health-related interventions (eHealth). Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 3, 53–76.
- 353. Hunkeler EM, Meresman JF, Hargreaves WA, Fireman B, Berman WH, Kirsch AJ, et al (2000): Efficacy of nurse telehealthcare and peer support in augmenting treatment of depression in primary care. Arch Fam Med9:700–708
- 354. Simon GE, VonKorff M, Rutter C, Wagner E (2000): Randomized trial of monitoring, feedback, and management of care by telephone to improve treatment of depression in primary care. BMJ 320:550–554.
- 355. Simon GE, Ludman EJ, Tutty S, Operskalski B, Von Korff M: Telephone psychotherapy and telephone care management for primary care patients starting

antidepressant treatment: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Medical As- sociation*. 2004, 292:935–942.

- 356. Mohr DC, Hart SL, Honos-Webb L, et al.: Telephone-administered psychotherapy for depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*. 2005, *62*:1007–1014.
- 357. Wells KB, Sherbourne C, Schoenbaum M, Duan N, Meredith L, Unützer J, Miranda J, Carney MF, Rubenstein LV. Impact of disseminating quality improvement programs for depression in managed primary care: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2000 Jan 12;283(2):212-20.
- 358. Salzberg DC, Mann JR, McDermott S. Differences in Race and Ethnicity in Muscular Dystrophy Mortality Rates for Males under 40 Years of Age, 2006-2015. Neuroepidemiology. 2018;50(3-4):201-206.
- 359. Centers for Disease C. Core Functions of Public Health and How They Relate to the 10
 Essential Services. CDC Environmental Public Health Leadership Institute (EPHLI)
 2011.
- 360. University of California I. THE THREE CORE PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS and the Essential Public Health Services.

http://ocw.uci.edu/opencourses/09f/89300/core_functions.pdf.

- 361. Vandiver, Vikki. Integrating Health Promotion and Mental Health: An Introduction to Policies, Principles, and Practices. Oxford; Oxford University Press, 2009. Print.
- 362. Hoeper EW, Nycz GR, Kessler LG, Burke JD Jr, Pierce WE (1984): The usefulness of screening for mental illness. Lancet1:33–35.

- 363. Shapiro S, German PS, Skinner EA, VonKorff M, Turner RW, Klein LE, et al (1987): An experiment to change detection and management of mental morbidity in primary care. MedCare25:327–339.
- 364. Ruiz, Miguel A et al. "Validity of the GAD-7 Scale as an Outcome Measure of Disability in Patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorders in Primary Care." *Journal* of affective disorders 128.3 (2010): 277–286.
- 365. Goldberg D. The value of screening in patient populations with high prevalence of a disorder. BMC Med. 2014 Jan 28; 12:14.
- 366. Löwe, Bernd, et al. "Validation and Standardization of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Screener (GAD-7) in the General Population." *Medical Care*, vol. 46, no. 3, 2008, pp. 266–274.
- 367. Martin, Alexandra et al. "Validity of the Brief Patient Health Questionnaire Mood Scale (PHQ-9) in the General Population." *General hospital psychiatry* 28.1 (2006): 71–77.
- 368. Moreyra, Angelica et al. "Implementing a Standardized Screening Protocol for Parental Depression, Anxiety, and PTSD Symptoms in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit." *Early human development* 154 (2021): 105279–105279. Web.
- 369. Duff, A.J.A et al. "257 Administering the PHQ8 and GAD7 in Routine UK CF Care in Situ Utilization in a Pediatric and an Adult Centre." *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 14 (2015): S124–S124. Web.
- 370. Segrin, C., & Flora, J. (2005). Theoretical perspectives on family communication:Family systems theory. In Family communication (pp. 28–33). Mahwah, NJ:Erlbaum.)

- 371. Gilson KM, Johnson S, Davis E, et al. Supporting the mental health of mothers of children with a disability: health professional perceptions of need, role, and challenges. Child Care Health Dev. 2018; 44:721–729.
- 372. Melnyk BM, Feinstein NF, Alpert-Gillis L, Fairbanks E, Crean HF, Sinkin RA, Stone PW, Small L, Tu X, Gross SJ. Reducing premature infants' length of stay and improving parents' mental health outcomes with the Creating Opportunities for Parent Empowerment (COPE) neonatal intensive care unit program: a randomized, controlled trial. Pediatrics. 2006 Nov;118(5): e1414-27.
- 373. Dewar, T. (1997). A guide to evaluating asset-based community development: Lessons, challenges, and opportunities. Chicago: ACTA Publications.
- 374. Kruger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2000). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- 375. Bracht, N., Kingsbury, L., & Rissel, C. (1999). A five-stage community organization model for health promotion: Empowerment and partnership strategies. In N. Bracht (Ed.) Health promotion at the community level: New advances (2nd ed.). pp. 83 104. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- 376. Hancock, T., & Minkler, M. (2005). Community health assessment or healthy community assessment: Whose community? Whose health? Whose assessment? In M. Minkler (Ed.) Community organizing and community building for health, (2nd ed.), pp. 138 157. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- 377. Collins, Rebecca L et al. "Social Marketing of Mental Health Treatment: California's Mental Illness Stigma Reduction Campaign." *American journal of public health* vol. 109, S3 (2019): S228-S235. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2019.305129

378. Counseling ACGC. Practice-Based Competencies for Genetic Counselors. 2020; https://www.gceducation.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/ACGC-Core-Competencies-Brochure_15_Web_REV-6-2019.pdf.